Statistics Surveys Vol. 8 (2014) 2–44 ISSN: 1935-7516 DOI: 10.1214/14-SS106

Adaptive clinical trial designs for phase I cancer studies

Oleksandr Sverdlov

Biometrics and Statistical Sciences Integrated Information Sciences Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research One Health Plaza, East Hanover, NJ 07936 USA

e-mail: alex.sverdlov@novartis.com

Weng Kee Wong

Department of Biostatistics Fielding School of Public Health University of California, Los Angeles Los Angeles, CA 90095 USA

e-mail: wkwong@ucla.edu

and

Yevgen Ryeznik

CS Ltd., 42A Tobolskaya Street Kharkov 61072 Ukraine e-mail: yevgen@csltd.com.ua

Abstract: Adaptive clinical trials are becoming increasingly popular research designs for clinical investigation. Adaptive designs are particularly useful in phase I cancer studies where clinical data are scant and the goals are to assess the drug dose-toxicity profile and to determine the maximum tolerated dose while minimizing the number of study patients treated at suboptimal dose levels.

In the current work we give an overview of adaptive design methods for phase I cancer trials. We find that modern statistical literature is replete with novel adaptive designs that have clearly defined objectives and established statistical properties, and are shown to outperform conventional dose finding methods such as the 3+3 design, both in terms of statistical efficiency and in terms of minimizing the number of patients treated at highly toxic or nonefficacious doses. We discuss statistical, logistical, and regulatory aspects of these designs and present some links to non-commercial statistical software for implementing these methods in practice.

MSC 2010 subject classifications: Primary 62L05, 62L10, 62L12; secondary 62L20.

Keywords and phrases: Bayesian designs, "best intention" designs, continual reassessment method, dose finding studies, estimation efficiency, ethics, maximum tolerated dose, oncology trial designs, optimal designs, phase I, stochastic approximation, toxicity, up-and-down designs.

Received July 2013.

Contents

1	Intro	$\operatorname{ntroduction} \ldots 3$							
2	Algorithm-based and nonparametric designs to determine MTD								
	2.1	The "	traditional" $3+3$ design and $A+B$ designs	6					
	2.2	Accelerated titration designs							
	2.3	Bayes	ian algorithm-based designs	8					
	2.4	Other	algorithm-based designs	9					
	2.5	Up-an	d-down designs	9					
		2.5.1	Biased coin designs	9					
		2.5.2	Improved up-and-down designs	10					
		2.5.3	Group up-and-down designs	11					
		2.5.4	Cumulative cohort designs	11					
		2.5.5	Up-and-down designs with delayed responses	12					
		2.5.6	More complex trials	12					
	2.6	Isoton	nic designs	12					
3	Para	ametric	model-based designs to determine MTD	12					
	3.1	Contin	nual reassessment method	13					
		3.1.1	More cautious escalation schemes	15					
		3.1.2	Two-stage CRM	15					
		3.1.3	Model calibration in the CRM	15					
		3.1.4	Curve-free Bayesian designs	16					
		3.1.5	Robustified CRM	16					
		3.1.6	Stopping rules	16					
		3.1.7	Time-to-event CRM (TITE-CRM)	16					
		3.1.8	More complex trials	16					
	3.2	Escala	ation with overdose control (EWOC)	17					
	3.3	Bayes	ian decision theoretic and optimal designs	18					
		3.3.1	Bayesian decision theoretic designs	19					
		3.3.2	Bayesian optimal sequential designs	20					
		3.3.3	Hybrid designs	22					
4	Data	a analy	sis following phase I trial designs	22					
5	Mise	ellany		24					
	5.1	Findir	ng MTD in a continuous dose space	24					
	5.2 Finding maximum tolerated combinations in drug combination								
		trials		25					
	5.3	More	complex settings	27					
6	Con	cluding	remarks	27					
Re	References								

1. Introduction

The clinical drug development starts with phase I first-in-human (FIH) studies. The major goals of an FIH study are to explore the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of the compound and to identify suitably safe doses for testing

in subsequent studies. In many disease areas, FIH studies are conducted in healthy volunteers who do not expect to benefit from the drug. However, in life-threatening diseases, such as cancer, the drugs are highly toxic and may unnecessarily harm healthy volunteers. For this reason phase I oncology trials are typically small, non-comparative studies conducted in patients with advanced cancer who have failed standard treatment options.

For cytotoxic anticancer agents a dual assumption is usually made: both the probability of toxicity and the probability of therapeutic response are increasing with dose. It is implicitly assumed that a higher dose, if it is not prohibitively toxic, will subsequently translate into higher treatment efficacy. The primary objective of a phase I cancer trial is to determine the maximum tolerated dose (MTD), defined as the highest dose level at which the rate of toxicity is "acceptable". A clinical trial protocol must specify the criteria for dose limiting toxicity (DLT), often defined as any severe (requiring hospitalization) or life-threatening adverse event. In the USA, the National Cancer Institute Common Toxicity Criteria are commonly used to define DLT [1]. There are two different philosophies in defining the MTD [2]. The first one treats MTD as a statistic observed from the data and the second treats MTD as a quantile of a monotonic dose-toxicity probability curve. The second approach is more scientifically sound.

Let $\Omega_d = \{d_1 < \cdots < d_K\}$ denote a set of pre-specified doses of an experimental drug which are selected based on data from animal studies. Let Y denote a binary indicator of toxicity (Y = 1 if DLT; Y = 0 if no DLT). Assume a monotone relationship between the dose and the probability of toxicity:

$$p_i = \Pr(Y = 1 | d_i) = \psi(d_i), \ i = 1, \dots, K,$$
(1.1)

where $\psi(d)$ is an unknown continuous monotone increasing function such that $0 \leq \psi(d_1) < \cdots < \psi(d_K) \leq 1$. Let $\Gamma \in (0, 1)$ be a pre-specified target probability of DLT (in phase I trials Γ is typically set between 0.1 and 0.35). Then γ , the dose level at which probability of toxicity is equal to Γ is rigorously defined as the $(100 \times \Gamma)$ th quantile of ψ ,

$$\gamma = \psi^{-1}(\Gamma). \tag{1.2}$$

Because of continuity of dose-toxicity curve, γ may not be among the dose levels in Ω_d . This leads to an alternative definition of the MTD as the dose level in Ω_d with toxicity probability closest to Γ ,

$$d^* = \arg\min_{1 \le i \le K} |\psi(d_i) - \Gamma|.$$
(1.3)

At the time when a trial is designed, knowledge about the underlying dosetoxicity relationship is scant, and so phase I trial designs are naturally adaptive. The basic setup of a phase I oncology trial design include pre-specified doses to be evaluated, a starting dose that is thought to be safe (commonly d_1), a maximum sample size in the study, a number of subjects to be treated at each dose (cohort size), criteria for dose escalation/de-escalation, stopping rules, and criteria for determining an MTD at the end of the trial. Commonly patients are enrolled in cohorts of size c, where c is a fixed small positive integer (if c = 1 we have a fully sequential design). Let X_j denote the dose assignment $(X_j \in \Omega_d)$, and $\mathbf{Y}_j = (Y_{j1}, \ldots, Y_{jc})$ denote the toxicity outcomes for the *j*th cohort of patients. Let $\mathcal{F}_j = \{(x_1, \mathbf{y}_1), \ldots, (x_j, \mathbf{y}_j)\}$ denote the cumulative data from cohorts $1, \ldots, j$ in the study (lowercase (x_j, \mathbf{y}_j) is used instead of (X_j, \mathbf{Y}_j) to emphasize the observed data). In general, the dose assignment for the (j + 1)th cohort of patients is determined as

$$X_{j+1} = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}_j), \tag{1.4}$$

where \mathcal{D} is some prospectively defined design adaptation rule. We shall now discuss some terminology and classifications of phase I trial designs.

The designs which utilize only data from the most recent cohort of patients (in which case the allocation rule is $X_{j+1} = \mathcal{D}(x_j, y_j)$) are referred to as "short memory" or "memoryless" [3, 4]. For instance, the 3+3 design (Subsection 2.1) uses estimated toxicity rate based on data from 3 or 6 patients to determine the dose assignment for the next cohort; the "biased coin design" [5, 6] (Subsection 2.5.1) uses the dose and the toxicity outcome of a current patient to determine the dose assignment for a new patient (Markovian design). Other designs utilize greater amount of information in the allocation scheme. For example, the "cumulative cohort design" [7] (Subsection 2.5.4) uses cumulative toxicity data from patients at a given dose (while ignoring information at other doses) to determine the dose assignment for the next cohort of patients. In contrast, the designs that are based on parametric models for dose-toxicity curves utilize the entire history $\mathcal{F}_j = \{(x_1, y_1), \ldots, (x_j, y_j)\}$ to borrow information across different dose levels. The latter designs are referred to as "long memory" [8] or "designs with memory" [4], and we shall discuss them in Section 3.

In any phase I study, there are two important goals related to the individual and collective ethics. The individual ethics (treatment goal) requires that every patient be treated at the dose closest to the MTD. The collective ethics (estimation goal) requires that the trial achieves accurate estimation of the MTD an the end of the study, to benefit future patients. The designs that attempt to assign each new patient to the dose that is currently viewed as closest to the target given current data are referred to as "Best Intention" (BI) designs [9]. Examples of BI designs include the Continual Reassessment Method (CRM) of O'Quigley et al. [10] (Subsection 3.1), the Escalation with Overdose Control (EWOC) method of Babb et al. [11] (Subsection 3.2), to name a few. BI designs are viewed as ethically appealing as they attempt to fulfil the treatment goal; however, they can be suboptimal in terms of convergence and estimation efficiency of the parameters of interest [8, 12]. In contrast, designs that attempt to achieve the estimation goal are based on formal optimal design theory [13, 14]. Dose assignments for such designs are determined sequentially to minimize some convex criterion of the Fisher information matrix, which is best from a statistical perspective but may result in placing many subjects to highly toxic doses. Recently, several adaptive design methods were proposed to achieve tradeoff between individual and collective ethics; these include constrained Bayesian optimal designs [15] (Subsection 3.3.2), "hybrid" designs [16, 17] (Subsection 3.3.3), and penalized adaptive *D*-optimal designs [18].

Some desirable properties of a phase I trial design are formalized in [19]. These include *coherence* [20] (dose escalate (de-escalate) only when no toxicity (toxicity) is observed), *consistency* (the sequence of dose assignments should converge to the target MTD), high *sensitivity* (an interval in which the toxicity probability of the selected dose will eventually fall should be narrow), and *unbiasedness* (the design should have improved performance as the underlying dose-toxicity curve becomes steep). In brief, a scientifically sound phase I trial design should concentrate dose assignments at and near the MTD, minimize dose assignments at suboptimal (either too low or overly toxic) dose levels, recognizing that greater penalty is associated with overdosing compared to underdosing, and the design should lead to accurate estimation of the MTD at the end of the study.

In this paper, we give an overview of statistical designs for phase I cancer trials to determine the MTD. We distinguish two major types of designs: i) algorithmbased and nonparametric model-based designs (Section 2) and ii) designs that use explicit parametric models to direct dose assignments (Section 3). Such a classification is consistent, for example, with the one in the edited volume by Chevret [21]. Section 4 discusses data analysis issues following phase I trial designs. Section 5 describes additional important topics including designs which perform dose search over a continuum of dose levels, designs for drug combination and dose-schedule combination trials, and designs for more complex settings with multiple toxicities. Section 6 presents concluding remarks.

2. Algorithm-based and nonparametric designs to determine MTD

A useful definition of an algorithm-based design is given in Chapter 2 of Cheung [22], p. 14: "Generally, an algorithm-based design prescribes a set of escalation rules for any dose without regard to the outcomes at other doses." This definition ensures that the rule can be tabulated and clinical investigators can preview all possible dose escalation decisions before the trial starts. Some notable algorithm-based designs are the "traditional" 3+3 design and its generalizations (Subsections 2.1–2.2) and Bayesian designs based on toxicity posterior intervals (Subsection 2.3). Unlike algorithm-based designs, nonparametric model-based designs can include additional features such as randomization and/or nonparametric estimation of dose-toxicity probability curve which increases design complexity. Both algorithm-based and nonparametric designs require no parametric assumption about the underlying dose-toxicity probability relationship. We will discuss nonparametric up-and-down designs and their generalizations in Subsection 2.5 and isotonic designs in Subsection 2.6.

2.1. The "traditional" 3+3 design and A+B designs

The "traditional" or 3+3 design is the most commonly used design in phase I oncology trials [23]. The 3+3 design uses the philosophy that MTD is identifiable

from the data. The design is very simple which explains its popularity among clinical investigators. Patients are treated in cohorts of size 3, starting with the lowest dose level and never skipping an untested dose when escalating. At any dose level a maximum of 6 patients are treated. For the initial three patients at each dose, if 0/3 toxicities are observed then the next three patients are treated at the next higher dose; if 1/3 toxicities are observed then the next three patients are treated at the same dose; if $\geq 2/3$ toxicities are observed then the MTD is considered to have been exceeded. Suppose six patients have been treated at a given dose. If 1/6 toxicities are observed then the next three patients are treated at the next higher dose; if 2/6 toxicities are observed then the current dose is declared the MTD; if > 3/6 toxicities are observed then the MTD is considered to have been exceeded. Therefore, by construction, the 3+3 design is supposed to target the 33rd percentile of a dose-toxicity distribution curve [24]. Heather and Mackey [25] made an interesting observation that the 3+3 design uses isotonic regression for estimating MTD. Storer [26, 27] was one of the first to explore statistical properties of the 3+3 design and proposed a few modifications, called "up-and-down designs". Several other practical modifications of the 3+3 design were proposed [28, 29, 30, 31].

Many papers assessed operating characteristics of the 3+3 design (along with other phase I designs) via simulation [32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37]. Reiner et al. [38] studied the issue of early stopping of the 3+3 design and found that "the probability of coming to an early halt at an incorrect level is higher than generally believed", and if the trial stops after fewer than 15 patients then results should be interpreted with caution. Exact statistical properties of the 3+3 design were investigated, among others, by Kang and Ahn [39, 40] and Lin and Shih [41]. In particular, Lin and Shih [41] found that target toxicity level (TTL), defined as the probability of a DLT at the MTD for a 3+3 design is not 33% as opposed to the popular belief. In fact, the design does not have a fixed TTL and it is advisable that several possible dose-toxicity scenarios be explored to determine the corresponding TTLs before implementing a clinical trial with the 3+3 design. Ivanova [42] showed theoretically that the 3+3 design will, on average, select a dose with toxicity rate between 0.16 and 0.27. Overall, despite its popularity, the 3+3 design is an ad hoc method with poor statistical properties. In addition to that the design identifies MTD imprecisely and unreliably, its dose escalation algorithm is quite slow and many patients in the trial may be treated at suboptimal dose levels [10, 43].

Lin and Shih [41] proposed generalizations of the 3+3 design, the A+B designs which can enroll cohorts of size other than 3 and can be cast with or without dose de-escalation. Ivanova [42] showed how to calibrate design parameters in an A+B design to achieve selection of the dose with the toxicity rate close to the target Γ . The A+B designs were further studied in [44, 45].

2.2. Accelerated titration designs

Simon et al. [46] proposed accelerated titration designs (ATDs) to improve the 3+3 design. An ATD consists of three important components: a rapid accelera-

tion phase, an intra-patient dose escalation phase and a model-based analysis of the dose-toxicity relationship. A rapid acceleration phase is achieved by treating one patient per dose level and using single-dose or double-dose escalation steps until the first instance of a DLT or the second instance of grade 2 toxicity, at which step the design switches to the traditional 3+3 scheme (two more patients are treated at the dose level that has triggered the switch and 3 to 6 patients are treated in subsequent cohorts). The intra-patient dose escalation part allows dose titration during subsequent treatment cycles in those patients who remain in the study and have no evidence of toxicity during the current cycle. A nonlinear mixed-effects model is used for data analysis at the end of the trial. Simon et al. [46] evaluated the performance of three different ATDs through simulation, using parameter estimates elicited from 20 real trials. They found that ATDs, on average, can substantially reduce the number of undertreated patients with very little increase in the number of patients experiencing DLTs. Also, ATDs require substantially fewer patients compared to the traditional design to achieve similar information about MTD, and in some cases ATDs can reduce the trial duration. Since ATDs use a dose-toxicity model, they provide greater information about cumulative toxicity, inter-patient variability and steepness of the dose-toxicity curve. An MS Excel macro for managing dose assignments and an S-Plus program to facilitate data analysis following ATDs are available at the Biometric Research Branch of National Cancer Institute (see Table 2). ATDs can be advantageous over the traditional 3+3 design, but these designs have found little use in practice, likely due to conservativeness of investigators. One successful application of an ATD is reported in [47].

2.3. Bayesian algorithm-based designs

Ji et al. [48] proposed an algorithm-based dose finding method based on toxicity posterior intervals (TPI). A Beta-binomial model for toxicity probabilities at each dose level is assumed. Given a target toxicity rate and toxicity outcomes at any dose, one calculates posterior probabilities of three non-overlapping intervals that partition the (0, 1) interval. These intervals correspond to decisions of dose escalation, staying at the same dose, or dose de-escalation. The interval with the highest posterior probability triggers the decision for the next cohort of patients. The algorithm includes a stopping rule which may facilitate early termination of a trial if dose 1 is excessively toxic, and an exclusion rule which restricts escalation to a dose that is likely to be highly toxic. At the end of the trial, the MTD is selected as the dose for which the isotonic-transformed posterior probability of toxicity is closest to the target toxicity probability. The merits of the TPI method are three-fold: simplicity of implementation, transparency to clinical investigators, and good statistical properties (the method can target any user-defined toxicity probability and performs comparably to model-based methods such as the CRM [10]. A decision theoretic justification for the TPI procedure is given in [49]. Ji et al. [50] proposed a modified version of the TPI procedure (mTPI), based on the unit probability mass statistic. The mTPI

inherits many attractive features of the TPI procedure, but it is simpler as it only requires specification of an equivalence interval where any dose with toxicity probability within the interval can be considered as the MTD. The authors provide an MS Excel macro for implementing both TPI and mTPI methods in real time, and an R code for performing simulations (see Table 2). A recent simulation study [51] shows that the mTPI design generally outperforms the traditional 3+3 design both in terms of mean number of patients treated above MTD and the percentage of correct MTD selection.

2.4. Other algorithm-based designs

Pharmacologically guided designs [52, 53] were proposed to improve the 3+3 design by utilizing exposure-toxicity data from animal studies to direct initial dose escalation in a phase I trial until the first DLT, after which the 3+3 algorithm is applied. Although scientifically sound, these designs have been rarely used in practice [54]. Cheung [55] developed a sequential procedure for identifying MTD based on stepwise tests which control family-wise error rates without assuming monotonic dose-toxicity relationship. Jiang et al. [56] proposed algorithms to construct optimal and approximately optimal designs based on minimization of a penalty function associated with selection of the MTD. Their methodology includes the 3+3 design as a special case, but it is more flexible as it can target doses with pre-specified toxicity levels. Blanchard and Longmate [57] proposed "toxicity equivalence range design", a frequentist version of the mTPI design of Ji et al. [50].

2.5. Up-and-down designs

Up-and-down designs (sometimes referred to as "random walk rules") are nonparametric procedures that can be used to target quantiles of interest. They should be distinguished from Storer's [26] "up-and-down" procedures which are modifications of the 3+3 design.

2.5.1. Biased coin designs

In the context of phase I clinical trials, the most famous up-and-down design is the "biased coin design" (BCD) developed by Durham and Flournoy [5, 6] and Durham et al. [58]. The BCD is a randomized extension of the Dixon and Mood's [59] up-and-down design.

Let Γ ($0 < \Gamma \leq 0.5$) denote the pre-specified target toxicity level (similar results are available for $0.5 \leq \Gamma < 1$). Define $b = \Gamma/(1 - \Gamma)$, the bias coin probability. For the *j*th patient (j = 1, ..., n), let Y_j denote a binary indicator of toxicity ($Y_j = 1$ if toxicity; $Y_j = 0$ if no toxicity) and $X_j \in \Omega_d$ denote the dose level assignment. The first patient is treated at the dose that is thought to be closest to the target (alternatively, the experiment can start at d_1 and doses

can be escalated one at a time until first toxicity is observed, at which instant the main algorithm starts). Suppose the *j*th patient has been assigned to dose d_k for some k = 1, ..., K. The (j+1)th patient's dose assignment is determined as follows.

- i Suppose $X_j = d_k$ for some k = 2, ..., K 1. If $Y_j = 1$ then assign patient (j+1) to dose d_{k-1} . If $Y_j = 0$ then randomize patient (j+1) with probability b to dose d_{k+1} and with probability 1 b to dose d_k .
- ii Suppose $X_j = d_1$. If $Y_j = 1$ then assign patient (j + 1) to dose d_1 . If $Y_j = 0$ then randomize patient (j + 1) with probability b to dose d_2 and with probability 1 b to dose d_1 .
- iii Suppose $X_j = d_K$. If $Y_j = 1$ then assign patient (j + 1) to dose d_{K-1} . If $Y_j = 0$ then assign patient (j + 1) to dose d_K .

The experiment continues until the pre-specified number of patients have been treated in the trial. The BCD generates a random walk on the lattice of doses. The exact and asymptotic properties of the design have been established using the theory of finite Markov chains [5, 6, 58, 60]. These properties as well as an application of the BCD are presented in [61]. The asymptotic distribution of allocation proportions at different dose levels is unimodal around the target quantile γ . Bortot and Giovagnoli [62] showed that the BCD possesses certain optimal asymptotic properties. Specifically, empirical mode estimator of the target quantile has smallest variance and the BCD has fastest speed of convergence to the stationary distribution. Estimation of the target quantile following the BCD was explored in [61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66]. While maximum likelihood estimators (MLEs) using logistic models are consistent and asymptotically normal [63], for small and moderate samples such estimators may not exist, may be biased [64] or may be highly variable [61]. The empirical mode is strongly consistent for the mode of the stationary treatment distribution [62, 65]; yet it may be unsatisfactory for small and moderate samples. Stylianou and Flournoy [66] investigated five different estimators of the target quantile and found that the isotonic regression estimator has best small-sample performance. The toxicity probabilities $\{\psi(d_k)\}_{k=1}^K$ can be also estimated by isotonic regression [67]. Stylianou [68] showed how to derive exact distributions of various statistics of interest by enumerating all possible outcomes in a BCD with a pre-determined sample size.

The original BCD as described by Durham and Flournoy [5] is a first order Markovian design: its dose escalation rule depends only on the toxicity outcome of the current patient. By utilizing more information than just the most recent response one can enhance the design performance. For this purpose a number of proposals have been made.

2.5.2. Improved up-and-down designs

Ivanova et al. [69] studied several designs including the "k-in-a-row rule" [70, 71], the "moving average up-and-down rule", and the "Narayana rule" to target

toxicity probabilities of the form $\Gamma = 1 - (0.5)^{1/k}$, where k = 1, 2, ... is a pre-specified number. A distinctive feature of these designs is that they look at the k most recent responses at the current dose level to determine the dose assignment for the next patient. Simulations show that these designs improve the BCD by assigning more patients in a neighborhood of the target dose and achieving more precise estimation of the MTD. An isotonic regression estimator is recommended for data analysis [69].

2.5.3. Group up-and-down designs

In many trials it is desired to treat patients in cohorts so that patients in the same cohort receive the same dose, but the doses may differ across the cohorts. Gezmu and Flournoy [72] proposed "group up-and-down designs" (GUDs) which make dose modifications based on the number of toxicities from the most recent cohort of patients. These designs are non-randomized. They use additional parameters (cohort size and cutoff points for the number of toxicities in a cohort) that can be tuned to target certain toxicity probabilities of interest. In particular, for cohorts of size k, the designs can target toxicity probabilities of the form $\Gamma = 1 - (0.5)^{1/k}$. Baldi Antognini et al. [73] proposed randomized GUDs which can target any given $\Gamma \in (0, 1)$.

2.5.4. Cumulative cohort designs

Ivanova et al. [7] proposed "cumulative cohort design" (CCD) which utilizes cumulative toxicity data from patients at a given dose in the dose-allocation algorithm. Let d_k be the currently administered dose (for the *j*th cohort of patients), $\hat{\psi}(d_k)$ be an estimate of $\psi(d_k)$ based on data from patients that have been assigned to d_k thus far, and $\Delta > 0$ be the pre-determined constant. The dose assignment X_{j+1} for the next, (j + 1)th cohort of patients is determined as follows.

i If $\hat{\psi}(d_k) \in (\Gamma - \Delta, \Gamma + \Delta)$, then $X_{j+1} = d_k$; ii If $\hat{\psi}(d_k) \leq \Gamma - \Delta$, then $X_{j+1} = d_{k+1}$ $(X_{j+1} = d_K$ if k = K); iii If $\hat{\psi}(d_k) \geq \Gamma + \Delta$, then $X_{j+1} = d_{k-1}$ $(X_{j+1} = d_1$ if k = 1).

How to judiciously choose the design parameter Δ (e.g. to maximize the total number of patients assigned to the MTD over a set of dose-toxicity scenarios) is also discussed in [7]. Oron et al. [74] proved almost sure convergence of the CCD to the target dose under widely satisfied conditions on $\psi(d)$. Simulations show favorable properties of the CCD [7, 75, 76]. In particular, Liu et al. [76] reported a comprehensive simulation study comparing six different up-and-down designs under various experimental settings. Their findings are summarized as follows: "The results show that the CCD has the best overall performance in terms of selecting the MTD, assigning patients to the MTD and patient safety. Its performance is generally close to the upper bound of nonparametric designs, but improvement seems possible in some cases."

2.5.5. Up-and-down designs with delayed responses

In trials with long evaluation periods some patients may enroll into the study before toxicity outcomes from previous patients are available. Stylianou and Follman [77] proposed an "accelerated BCD" for which the dose assignment for the next patient is based on the last completely evaluated patient. Their design can reduce the total study duration (20%–70% less time depending on sample size and accrual rate) while having similar statistical properties to the BCD of Durham and Flournoy [5]. Jia and Braun [78] proposed "adaptive accelerated BCD" which accounts for the patients' follow-up times in the study and facilitates dose assignments without delay. Ivanova et al. [7] proposed a version of the cumulative cohort design with delayed toxicity outcomes.

2.5.6. More complex trials

Generalizations of up-and-down designs to trials with ordinal toxicity grades are available [79, 80]. Applications of up-and-down designs in trials with toxicity and efficacy considerations are discussed in [81, 82]. A review of merits and limitations of up-and-down designs can be found in [83]. Most recently, Oron and Hoff [8] found that up-and-down designs can outperform more complex model-based "long memory" designs in small sample studies (10–40 patients) which are typical in phase I cancer trials.

2.6. Isotonic designs

Since phase I trials are small, estimation of toxicity probabilities may be challenging. Parametric methods such as the maximum likelihood estimators may be unsatisfactory, especially if the model is misspecified. A popular nonparametric approach to estimating a monotone dose-toxicity curve is the isotonic regression. Recently, several nonparametric designs for MTD finding have been proposed that use current isotonic regression estimates of toxicity probabilities to determine the next dose assignment [84, 85, 86, 87]. Ivanova and Flournoy [75] performed a simulation study comparing several such designs and found that designs that select the next dose with the estimated toxicity rate closest to the target (e.g. designs of Leung and Wang [84], Yuan and Chappell [85] and Conaway et al. [86] perform less well than the cumulative cohort design [7], both in terms of correct identification of the MTD and in terms of assigning more patients to doses near the MTD. Cheung [22] notes that isotonic designs may be undesirably rigid.

3. Parametric model-based designs to determine MTD

Model-based designs for phase I trials were proposed as alternatives to algorithmbased designs. A distinctive feature of these methods is the postulation of a parametric statistical model for dose-toxicity relationship. The dose-toxicity curve is sequentially updated based on accumulating data from patients in the trial, and the dose assignment for an incoming patient is determined on the basis of the current model-based estimates of toxicity probabilities. Since model-based approaches utilize the entire history from subjects in the trial, they are expected to be more efficient than algorithm-based approaches. On the other hand, these designs may be subject to modeling bias and careful assessment of robustness properties of the methods is essential. Also, these designs may be more difficult to implement and require more upfront planning than conventional designs. Since phase I studies are small, a model to facilitate design adaptations should be parsimonious, typically with one or two parameters. Sophisticated models should be avoided at the design stage because parameter estimates may be numerically unstable. In this section we will discuss several popular model-based approaches for phase I trials: the Continual Reassessment Method (CRM), the Escalation with Overdose Control (EWOC), and Bayesian decision-theoretic approaches.

3.1. Continual reassessment method

The Continual Reassessment Method (CRM) is the first model-based design in the clinical trial literature, proposed in 1990 by O'Quigley et al. [10]. Many modifications of the original CRM have been developed since then. A comprehensive exposition of the CRM is given in the book by Cheung [22]. Other excellent reviews of the CRM are available [88, 89].

The defining feature of the original CRM is a one-parameter working model for the dose-toxicity probability curve:

$$p_i = \psi(d_i, a), \quad i = 1, \dots, K,$$
 (3.1)

where a > 0 is the parameter. It is assumed that $\psi(d, a)$ is monotonically increasing in d for every value of a and $\psi(d, a)$ is monotone in a for every d. Given any $\Gamma \in (0,1)$ it is assumed that for each d there exists a unique parameter \tilde{a} such that $\psi(d, \tilde{a}) = \Gamma$. In other words, the chosen one-parameter model should be rich enough to uniquely determine the target toxicity probability at each dose level. As noted by O'Quigley and Conaway [89], while a one-parameter model may not be best for describing the entire dose-toxicity probability curve, it is more important that the model provides adequate local fit near the MTD. In practice, it is helpful to have a graphical review of dose-toxicity curves to assess plausibility of the selected family of models; this should be done collaboratively by clinician and statistician [88]. Three one-parameter models are commonly proposed [10, 22]:

- Power model: $\psi(d, a) = d^a$ (a > 0, 0 < d < 1);• Hyperbolic tangent model: $\psi(d, a) = \{\frac{\tanh d + 1}{2}\}^a$ $(a > 0, -\infty < d < \infty);$
- Logistic model with a fixed intercept: $\psi(d, a) = \frac{\exp(c+ad)}{1+\exp(c+ad)}$ (c is prespecified, $a > 0, -\infty < d < \infty$).

Suppose a one-parameter model is chosen and let a_0 be an unknown value of the parameter that defines the "true" model $\psi(x, a_0)$. Let $0 < \alpha_1 < \cdots < \alpha_K < 1$ be

pre-specified a priori toxicity probabilities at the K dose levels (the "skeleton" of the CRM) and let \hat{a}_0 be the prior estimate of a_0 . To achieve consistency between the prior assumptions and the postulated model, the dose labels d_1, \ldots, d_K for implementing CRM can be determined by solving the equations $\alpha_i = \psi(d_i, \hat{a}_0)$, $i = 1, \ldots, K$. Importantly, this preserves the ordering of the doses, i.e. $d_1 < \cdots < d_K$.

Given initial uncertainty about the parameter a, one may use a Bayesian approach to the trial design. Three distinct approaches to establish the prior distribution, including the use of analytically tractable prior (e.g. a standard exponential density), the use of pseudo-data prior, and the use of empirical prior are discussed in O'Quigley and Conaway [89]. The original CRM is fully sequential. The first patient is treated at the dose which a priori is thought to be closest to the MTD. Any subsequent patient is treated at a dose with estimated toxicity probability closest to the target toxicity level. Let g(a) denote the prior density and let $\mathcal{F}_j = \{(x_1, y_1), \ldots, (x_j, y_j)\}$ denote the history from first j patients in the trial, where $x_m \in \{d_1, \ldots, d_K\}$ is the dose assignment and y_m is the toxicity outcome of the mth patient $(m = 1, \ldots, j)$. Using Bayes formula, the posterior density for a is $g(a|\mathcal{F}_j) = C^{-1}\mathcal{L}_j(a)g(a)$, where $\mathcal{L}_j(a) = \prod_{m=1}^j \{\psi(x_m, a)\}^{y_m} \{1 - \psi(x_m, a)\}^{1-y_m}$ is the binomial likelihood and $C = \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}_j(a)g(a)da$ is the normalizing constant. The posterior mean toxicity probability at d_i is estimated as

$$E_a\{\psi(d_i,a)|\mathcal{F}_j\} = \int_0^\infty \psi(d_i,a)g(a|\mathcal{F}_j), \quad i = 1,\dots, K.$$
(3.2)

Then the dose assignment for the (j + 1)th patient is determined as

$$X_{j+1} = \arg \min_{1 \le i \le K} |E_a\{\psi(d_i, a)|\mathcal{F}_j\} - \Gamma|.$$
 (3.3)

The dose assignment algorithm (3.3) is applied sequentially until a pre-specified number of patients, n, have been treated in the trial. The final recommendation of the MTD is based on data from n patients. In (3.3), instead of $E_a\{\psi(d_i, a) | \mathcal{F}_j\}$ one can use plug-in estimators $\tilde{p}_i = \psi(d_i, \tilde{a}_j)$, where \tilde{a}_j is the posterior mean of a, or $\hat{p}_i = \psi(d_i, \hat{a}_j)$, where $\hat{a}_j = \arg \max_a \mathcal{L}_j(a)$, the maximum likelihood estimator. The latter approach (proposed by O'Quigley and Shen [90]) is referred to as the *likelihood CRM* (CRML). The maximum likelihood estimator of toxicity probability $\hat{p}_i = \psi(d_i, \hat{a}_n)$ is asymptotically fully efficient, and the confidence intervals based on \hat{p}_i are quite accurate even for samples as small as n = 12 or n = 16 [91].

Theoretical large sample properties of the CRM have been established [92, 93, 94]. Under widely satisfied conditions, the maximum likelihood estimator is consistent and asymptotically normal and the recommended dose level converges to the target level even if the dose-toxicity model is misspecified [92, 94]. Cheung [20] introduced the *coherence* principle for phase I trials which posits that dose escalation is appropriate only when the most recent patient has no toxicity and dose de-escalation is coherent only when a toxic outcome has just been seen. The one-stage Bayesian CRM is coherent whereas the two-stage CRM is in general

not coherent in escalation [22]. Cheung [95] developed a sample size formula for a clinical trial with the Bayesian CRM. O'Quigley et al. [96] proposed a non-parametric optimal design (assuming that complete dose-toxicity profile is available) as the benchmark for comparing small sample efficiency of various designs in term of percentage of correct dose selection. The CRM is shown to be highly efficient, with limited potential for improvement, compared to the optimal design [96, 97, 98].

Small-sample properties of the CRM were investigated via simulations which also included comparisons of the CRM with other phase I dose finding designs [32, 33, 34, 35, 99, 100, 101]. Some authors emphasize the importance of including measures of variability in simulations to facilitate comparisons among the designs [2, 8]. The CRM has been shown to yield high percentage of correct selection of the MTD under a variety of dose-toxicity models and sample sizes applicable in phase I trials. However, Oron and Hoff [8] recently showed that the CRM, while performing well on average, has a highly variable distribution of the number of cohorts treated at the MTD which may be unsatisfactory in small trials.

Some early criticisms of the CRM were attributed to the fully sequential nature of the method and the fact that escalation may occur too fast [32]. Many practical improvements of the method have been proposed to overcome these criticisms and make the method attractive to investigators. Some important modifications and extensions of the CRM are outlined as follows.

3.1.1. More cautious escalation schemes

The original CRM starts at the dose which a priori is thought to be closest to the MTD. More cautious strategies include starting the design at the lowest dose [32]; not allowing escalation if the most current outcome is DLT [102]; escalating one dose level at a time [103, 104]; and treating more than one patient at the higher dose levels [32, 103, 105].

3.1.2. Two-stage CRM

To facilitate better learning at the beginning of the trial, two-stage designs have been proposed. At the first ("start-up") stage, patients are treated in cohorts at escalating doses until the first instant of toxicity is seen. This is done to ascertain initial data and gain prior knowledge about the drug characteristics. The second (main) stage involves implementation of the CRM or its modification [90, 104, 106, 107, 108].

3.1.3. Model calibration in the CRM

The performance of the CRM may depend on the specification of a prior distribution and the working model. Model calibration strategies for the CRM are presented in [109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116].

3.1.4. Curve-free Bayesian designs

Gasparini and Eisele [117] proposed a class of curve-free designs by placing a multivariate prior distribution on the vector of toxicity probabilities at the K doses. O'Quigley [118] showed equivalence of this class of curve-free designs to a class of CRM designs. Cheung [119] noted that curve-free designs with vague priors may be undesirably rigid and suggested using slightly more informative priors. Whitehead et al. [120] proposed a Bayesian dose-finding approach assuming only monotonicity of the dose-toxicity curve.

3.1.5. Robustified CRM

Yuan and Yin [121] proposed a hybrid design which uses the traditional 3+3 scheme if observed data are informative about the toxicity rate at a given dose, and it switches to Bayesian CRM if there is not enough information to make such a definitive decision. Su [122] proposed an approach combining Bayesian and likelihood-based CRM designs. Yuan and Yin [123] proposed a "robust EM CRM" which addresses the issues of choosing prior toxicity probabilities and handling delayed toxicity outcomes.

3.1.6. Stopping rules

The CRM uses a fixed and pre-determined sample size. An investigator may want to stop the trial before the target sample size is reached for safety issues and/or budgetary reasons. The proposals for early stopping of the CRM trial design include using the width of the posterior 95% confidence interval for the MTD as a stopping criterion [43], using Bayesian stopping rules for early detection of mis-choice of the dose range [124, 125], and terminating the trial at the point when one can predict with high probability the final recommendation for the MTD [126, 127].

3.1.7. Time-to-event CRM (TITE-CRM)

The CRM requires model updates after each patient or group of patients. However, in many trials toxicity outcomes are not observed immediately after treatment. Cheung and Chappell [128] proposed an extension of CRM which accounts for patient staggered entry and delayed toxicity outcomes (TITE-CRM). Their method can shorten the trial duration while maintaining important statistical properties of the original CRM. Some further enhancements of TITE-CRM have been proposed recently [129, 130, 131, 132]. Applications of TITE-CRM are presented in Muler et al. [133] and Normolle and Lawrence [134].

3.1.8. More complex trials

O'Quigley and Conaway [135] discuss extensions of the CRM to dose-finding trials with special considerations. These include studies where two subpopulations of patients have possibly different susceptibility to toxicity and the objective is to find the MTD within each subpopulation [136, 137], dose finding trials using ordinal toxicity grades [138, 139, 140, 141], dose finding trials of combination drugs [142, 143, 144] and trials with both toxicity and efficacy outcomes [145, 146, 147]. Huang and Chappell [148] proposed an extension of CRM by using multiple dose levels in the cohorts, to achieve faster and more efficient design.

Some recent interesting papers report applications of CRM in pediatric phase I cancer trials [149], phase I cancer trials in Japanese patients [150, 151], and a trial for a rare disease with constraints on the maximal sample size [152]. Software for CRM implementation is available [153, 154, 155]. R packages 'dfcrm' and 'bcrm' are available for download from the Comprehensive R Archive Network (Table 2).

3.2. Escalation with overdose control (EWOC)

The EWOC is a Bayesian adaptive design proposed by Babb et al. [11]. The method uses a similar idea to the CRM of treating each patient at the dose estimated to be closest to the MTD, but it places heavier penalties on overdosing than underdosing. The method starts with a two-parameter dose-toxicity model

$$p_i = \Pr(Y = 1 | d_i) = \psi(\alpha + \beta d_i), \quad i = 1, \dots, K,$$
(3.4)

where α and β are unknown parameters and $\psi(x) = 1/(1+e^{-x})$ is the standard logistic distribution. It is assumed that $\beta > 0$ so that $\psi(\alpha + \beta x)$ is strictly increasing in dose. The model (3.4) is also re-parameterized in terms of more clinically interpretable measures such as ρ , the toxicity probability at d_1 , and γ $(d_1 \leq \gamma \leq d_K)$, the unknown MTD that corresponds to the pre-specified target toxicity level $\Gamma \in (0, 1)$. Since $\rho = \psi(\alpha + \beta d_1)$ and $\Gamma = \psi(\alpha + \beta \gamma)$, we have

$$\alpha = \frac{d_1 \text{logit}(\Gamma) - \gamma \text{logit}(\rho)}{d_1 - \gamma},$$

$$\beta = \frac{\text{logit}(\rho) - \text{logit}(\Gamma)}{d_1 - \gamma},$$

where $logit(x) = log\{x/(1-x)\}\)$, and we can write

$$\psi(\alpha + \beta x) = \psi\left(\frac{(d_1 - x)\operatorname{logit}(\Gamma) - (\gamma - x)\operatorname{logit}(\rho)}{d_1 - \gamma}\right)$$
$$= F(x, \rho, \gamma).$$

Let $g(\rho, \gamma)$ denote the joint prior density for (ρ, γ) with support on $[0, \rho_0] \times [d_1, d_K]$, which can be elicited from physicians. Given history of dose assignments and toxicity outcomes from j patients in the trial, $\mathcal{F}_j = \{(x_1, y_1), \ldots, (x_j, y_j)\}$, the joint posterior density for (ρ, γ) can be obtained as $g(\rho, \gamma|\mathcal{F}_j) = C^{-1}\mathcal{L}_j(\rho, \gamma)g(\rho, \gamma)$, where $\mathcal{L}_j(\rho, \gamma) = \prod_{m=1}^j \{F(x_m, \rho, \gamma)\}^{y_m} \{1-F(x_m, \rho, \gamma)\}^{1-y_m}$ is the likelihood and $C = \int_{d_1}^{d_K} \int_0^{\rho_0} \mathcal{L}_j(\rho, \gamma)g(\rho, \gamma)d\rho d\gamma$ is the normalizing con-

stant. The parameter of interest is γ whose marginal posterior density is $g(\gamma|\mathcal{F}_j) = \int_0^{\rho_0} g(\rho, \gamma|\mathcal{F}_j) \mathrm{d}\rho.$

The distinctive feature of the EWOC method is the dose allocation rule. Assuming $g(\gamma|\mathcal{F}_j)$ is available, the (j+1)th patient's dose assignment X_{j+1} is chosen such that

$$\Pr(\gamma < X_{j+1}) = \epsilon, \tag{3.5}$$

for some small pre-specified feasibility bound $\epsilon > 0$. In other words, the dose is selected such that the posterior probability of overdosing is low. Note that the described procedure considers doses on a continuous scale. To modify the procedure for a discrete dose space, one can cast the allocation rule as

 $\tilde{X}_{j+1} = \max\{d_1, \dots, d_K : d_i - X_{j+1} \le T_1 \text{ and } \Pr(\gamma < X_{j+1}) - \epsilon \le T_2\},\$

where X_{j+1} is determined from (3.5) and T_1 and T_2 are suitably chosen nonnegative numbers referred to as "tolerances" [11]. The EWOC procedure can be applied sequentially or for cohorts of patients. If some patients' toxicity outcomes are delayed, one just uses all available data to update the model and perform dose allocation for an incoming patient. Final data analysis following EWOC is performed using Bayesian methods. Simulations from the original paper [11] showed that EWOC has similar estimation efficiency of the MTD but lower frequency of overdosing compared to CRM, and it compares favorably to various non-parametric dose escalation schemes.

The EWOC design has a firm theoretical basis [11, 156, 157, 158]. Under mild regularity conditions a sequence of EWOC-generated dose assignments converges in probability to the true MTD and the EWOC design is optimal in the class of Bayesian-feasible designs [156]. Furthermore, the EWOC is coherent in both escalation and de-escalation [157].

Important extensions of EWOC include incorporation of covariates [159, 160, 161], accounting for the number and ordinal nature of toxicity grades [162, 163], accounting for late onset toxicities [164], the choice of a cohort size [165], the use of variable feasibility bound [166], and an extension to drug combination trials [167]. The free interactive software from the authors of the method is available (see Table 2). A review of the software is given in [168]. An interesting application of EWOC is given in [169].

3.3. Bayesian decision theoretic and optimal designs

In this subsection we discuss novel Bayesian adaptive designs which incorporate formal optimality criteria in design adaptation rules. Subsection 3.3.1 discusses Bayesian decision theoretic designs that encompass many model-based methods under one paradigm. Subsection 3.3.2 discusses Bayesian optimal sequential designs which simultaneously address the objectives of efficient estimation and an ethical dilemma of restricting allocation of patients to highly toxic doses by sequentially solving a restricted optimization problem. Subsection 3.3.3 discusses "hybrid" designs that achieve a tradeoff between efficiency and ethics by solving a stochastic optimization problem.

3.3.1. Bayesian decision theoretic designs

Whitehead and Brunier [170] proposed a Bayesian decision theoretic framework for phase I dose finding studies. This approach requires specification of a dose-toxicity model, a prior distribution for model parameters, a set of possible decisions (dose level assignments for the patients) and a gain (or loss) function. Consider a two-parameter logistic model for the dose-toxicity curve:

$$p_i = \left\{ 1 + \exp\left(-\frac{d_i - \alpha}{\beta}\right) \right\}^{-1}, \quad \beta > 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, K.$$
(3.6)

Let $g(\boldsymbol{\theta})$ denote the prior density for $\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\alpha, \beta)$ and $g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_j)$ denote the posterior density for $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ given data from first j patients in the trial. Let $L(\boldsymbol{\theta}, x)$ denote the loss function which represents the value of loss if dose x is assigned to the (j+1)th patient $(x \in \{d_1, \ldots, d_K\})$ when parameter $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ is valid. Given $g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_j)$, one can obtain posterior expected loss for each of the K dose levels:

$$E_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}\{L(\boldsymbol{\theta}, d_i)\} = \int L(\boldsymbol{\theta}, d_i)g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_j)\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \quad i = 1, \dots, K$$

The dose level for the (j + 1)th patient is chosen to minimize the posterior expected loss:

$$X_{j+1} = \arg\min_{x \in \{d_1, \dots, d_K\}} E_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}\{L(\boldsymbol{\theta}, x)\}.$$

As noted by Whitehead and Williamson [171], instead of posterior expected loss, one can use more convenient plug-in estimators such as $\tilde{L} = L(\tilde{\theta}_j, d_i)$, where $\tilde{\theta}_j = \int \theta g(\theta | \mathcal{F}_j) d\theta$ is the posterior mean, or $\tilde{\tilde{L}} = L(\tilde{\tilde{\theta}}_j, d_i)$, where $\tilde{\tilde{\theta}}_j = \arg \max_{\theta} g(\theta | \mathcal{F}_j)$ is the posterior mode.

The form of a loss function must reflect the study objectives. Recall that p(x) denotes the toxicity probability at dose $x, \Gamma \in (0, 1)$ is the pre-specified target toxicity level and γ is an unknown $(100 \times \Gamma)$ th quantile of p(x). The two key considerations are the patient loss and the information loss. For the patient loss, one can choose

$$L_1(\boldsymbol{\theta}, x) = (p(x) - \Gamma)^2,$$

which is the loss function used in the CRM method. The design sequentially selects a dose with toxicity probability closest to Γ [10]. A "more cautious" asymmetric loss of the EWOC method [11] puts higher penalties on overdosing than on underdosing:

$$L_2(\boldsymbol{\theta}, x) = \epsilon(\gamma - x)^+ + (1 - \epsilon)(x - \gamma)^+,$$

where $x^+ = \max(x, 0)$. Some other loss functions to limit exposure of patients to doses higher than the estimated MTD can be found in Whitehead and Williamson [171].

For the information loss one can consider some criterion of the Fisher information matrix. If the goal is to estimate the target quantile $\gamma = \alpha + \beta \log\{\Gamma/(1-\Gamma)\}$ as accurately as possible (see Subsection 3.3.2 for details), then a loss function

can be chosen as

$$L_3(\boldsymbol{\theta}, x) = \operatorname{var}\{\hat{\alpha} + \hat{\beta}\log\{\Gamma/(1-\Gamma)\}\$$

which is an asymptotic variance of the maximum likelihood estimator of γ , assuming that j patients have been treated at doses x_1, \ldots, x_j and the (j + 1)th patient is treated at dose x. This can be derived using delta-method using the Fisher information matrix for (α, β) . The (j + 1)th patient's dose assignment should be one which results in the smallest variance of $\hat{\gamma}$. Other measures of information such as the determinant of the Fisher information matrix or a weighted combination of different criteria can be used [172].

The operating characteristics of Bayesian decision theoretic designs with twoparameter logistic model for sample sizes typical to phase I trials were assessed via simulations [171, 173, 174]. Zhou and Whitehead [175] provide guidance to practical implementation of Bayesian dose escalation procedures. The authors developed a software package Bayesian ADEPT [176, 177, 178]. In ADEPT one can assess the operating characteristics of several designs via simulations, and the software has a utility to implement Bayesian dose escalation designs in real time. The authors point out that ADEPT should be viewed as an assistant in decision-making, but it should not replace clinical judgment.

3.3.2. Bayesian optimal sequential designs

Haines et al. [15] used optimal design theory to construct Bayesian optimal sequential designs for phase I trials. Consider a two-parameter location-scale logistic model for the dose-toxicity curve (3.6). For a chosen toxicity level Γ , the target quantile is expressed as $\gamma = \alpha + \beta \log\{\Gamma/(1-\Gamma)\}$, which is linear in the parameters α and β . Let n be the fixed and predetermined study sample size. A design for model (3.6) is determined by a discrete probability measure $\xi = \{(d_i, \rho_i), i = 1..., K, \sum_{i=1}^K \rho_i = 1\}$, where $\rho_i = n_i/n$ is the proportion of patients assigned to dose d_i . Let $z_i = (d_i - \alpha)/\beta$. Then the Fisher information for $\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\alpha, \beta)$ at d_i is given by

$$\boldsymbol{I}(d_i,\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \frac{e^{z_i}}{\beta^2 (1+e^{z_i})^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z_i \\ z_i & z_i^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

and the full design information matrix is $\boldsymbol{M}(\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \rho_i \boldsymbol{I}(d_i, \boldsymbol{\theta})$. An optimal design problem is to maximize some concave criterion of $\boldsymbol{M}(\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta})$. Haines et al. [15] considered two Bayesian criteria: a *D*-optimality criterion

$$\phi_D(\xi) = E_{\theta}\{\log |\boldsymbol{M}(\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta})|\} = \int \log |\boldsymbol{M}(\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta})| g(\boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{\theta}, \qquad (3.7)$$

and a *c*-optimality criterion

$$\phi_c(\xi) = -E_{\boldsymbol{\theta}} \{ \boldsymbol{c}^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{M}(\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta})^{-1} \boldsymbol{c} \} = -\int \boldsymbol{c}^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{M}(\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta})^{-1} \boldsymbol{c} g(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\theta}.$$
(3.8)

In (3.7) and (3.8), $g(\theta)$ denotes the prior probability density for θ and the integrals are taken over the support of $g(\theta)$. In (3.8), $\boldsymbol{c} = (1, \log\{\Gamma/(1-\Gamma)\})^{\mathrm{T}}$

and the expression under the integral is proportional to the asymptotic variance of the maximum likelihood estimator $\hat{\gamma} = \hat{\alpha} + \hat{\beta} \log\{\Gamma/(1-\Gamma)\}$.

To incorporate ethical constraints, a restriction on the dose space is imposed. Let $\Gamma_R \leq \Gamma$ be a pre-defined maximum acceptable level of toxicity and $\gamma_R = \alpha + \beta \log\{\Gamma_R/(1-\Gamma_R)\}$ denote the corresponding quantile (the "maximally allowed dose"). Given prior $g(\theta)$, one can obtain the prior distribution for γ_R . The restricted dose space is $\Omega_R = \{d : d \leq \gamma_R\}$. To minimize probability of highly toxic dose assignments in the trial, one introduces a linear constraint function $\phi_R(\xi) = \sum_{i=1}^K \rho_i \Pr(\gamma_R \leq d_i) \leq \epsilon$, where $\epsilon > 0$ is some small probability chosen by an investigator. Then a constrained Bayesian *D*-optimal optimization problem is formulated as

$$\begin{cases} \text{maximize} & \phi_D(\xi) \\ \text{subject to} & \phi_R(\xi) \le \epsilon. \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

A similar problem can be formulated using c-optimality criterion as the objective function. The optimization problem (3.9) is well defined and the solution (optimal design points and probability mass at these points) can be obtained numerically. The problem (3.9) covers both the case when optimal dose levels are sought on the continuous (log-transformed) scale and a more practical case when the dose levels are pre-specified in advance. In the latter case, the optimization problem is simpler because the design points are known and only the optimal proportions at these points are to be found.

The described optimal designs are theoretical measures. To construct sequential Bayesian optimal designs, Haines et al. [15] proposed a two-stage approach. At the first (pilot) stage, a small number of n_0 patients are allocated among the K dose levels according to the optimal design with prior density $g(\theta)$. Based on the history $\mathcal{F}_{n_0} = \{(x_1, y_1), \ldots, (x_{n_0}, y_{n_0})\}$, the posterior density is obtained as $g(\theta|\mathcal{F}_{n_0})$. At the second stage, stepwise allocation of $(n - n_0)$ patients is made to maximize the *D*-optimality criterion

$$\int \log |n_0 \boldsymbol{M}(\xi^*, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + \boldsymbol{I}(d, \boldsymbol{\theta})| g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_{n_0}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\theta}$$
(3.10)

or maximize the c-optimality criterion

$$-\int \boldsymbol{c}^{\mathrm{T}}\{n_0\boldsymbol{M}(\xi^*,\boldsymbol{\theta})+\boldsymbol{I}(d,\boldsymbol{\theta})\}^{-1}\boldsymbol{c}g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_{n_0})\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\theta}.$$
(3.11)

subject to constraint $\Pr(\gamma_R \leq d) \leq \epsilon$ evaluated over the posterior $g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_{n_0})$. In (3.10) and (3.11), $\boldsymbol{M}(\xi^*, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} N_i(n_0) \boldsymbol{I}(d_i, \boldsymbol{\theta})/n_0$, where $N_i(n_0)$ is the number of patients assigned to dose d_i after the pilot stage, with $\sum_{i=1}^{K} N_i(n_0) = n_0$. At the end of the trial, statistical inference can be based on the Bayes estimator $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\theta}}_n = \int \boldsymbol{\theta} g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_n) d\boldsymbol{\theta}$.

Roy et al. [179] established theoretical properties of the sequential *D*-optimal design. They showed convergence of the design measure to the locally *D*-optimal design as well as consistency and asymptotic normality of the Bayes estimator. Their proof requires that the logistic model is correctly specified. Simulations

show that sequential designs provide good approximations to the "true" optimal designs, for sample sizes as large as n = 35 even with moderately misspecified priors [15]. A web-based application for implementing Bayesian optimal sequential designs is available [180].

Warfield and Roy [181] proposed semiparametric sequential designs for a class of 2-parameter models which includes logistic model as a special case. Roth [182] proposed "sequential locally optimal designs" which use the 3+3 design at initial stages of the trial and then switch to an optimal design once model parameters become estimable.

3.3.3. Hybrid designs

Bartroff and Lai [16] proposed another approach to handle "treatment versus experimentation" dilemma in phase I clinical trials. For a trial of size n, they proposed selecting dose assignments sequentially to minimize the "global risk"

$$E_{\theta} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n} h(\gamma, x_j) + \tilde{h}(\hat{\gamma}_n, \gamma) \right\}, \qquad (3.12)$$

where for j = 1, ..., n, $h(\gamma, x_j)$ is the loss for the *j*th patient, $\hat{\gamma}_n$ is the final estimate of the MTD, and $\tilde{h}(\hat{\gamma}_n, \gamma)$ represents the final loss in estimation efficiency. As described by Bartroff and Lai [16], this stochastic minimization problem can be solved using dynamic programming which may be computationally prohibitive. In practice an approximate solution can be obtained using rollout algorithms [183]. An approximate solution which Bartroff and Lai [16] call "hybrid" designs is a convex combination of a "treatment" design such as EWOC and a "learning" design such as *D*-optimal design, with an adaptive weight that is skewed in favor of the "learning" design at initial stages of the trial and the weight becomes skewed in favor of the "treatment" design as the trial progresses. Recently, Bartroff and Lai proposed another simpler and more efficient hybrid design [17].

4. Data analysis following phase I trial designs

The issue of data analysis following a phase I trial is often overlooked in practice. For instance, for the popular 3+3 design the MTD is simply taken to be one dose below the dose at which the trial has stopped. This approach may be unsatisfactory because it provides no information about uncertainty of the estimator. Clearly, one can do much better by utilizing all collected trial data in statistical modeling. Given the final data set $\{t_i, n_i, d_i, i = 1, \ldots, K\}$, where t_i is the number of toxicities among n_i patients assigned to dose d_i , how do we estimate the MTD? Also, how do we estimate toxicity probabilities $p(d) = \Pr(Y = 1|d)$ for $d \in \{d_1, \ldots, d_K\}$?

For the 3+3 design and some of its modifications, Storer [26, 27] discussed confidence interval estimation of the MTD using a two-parameter logistic model

for dose-toxicity curve. The approaches include delta-method, a method related to Fieller's theorem, and a method based on likelihood ratio test. Storer found that none of these approaches is completely satisfactory because of small sample sizes and sparse data in a phase I trial. Tremmel [184] considered a probit model for a dose-toxicity relationship: $p_k = \Pr(Y = 1 | d_k) = \Phi(\log(d_k), \mu, \sigma),$ $k = 1, \ldots, K$ and found that this approach estimates the MTD better than the traditional 3+3 approach. He et al. [185] proposed a model-based approach for estimating the MTD assuming a one-parameter dose-toxicity model within a CRM framework. Their main finding is that the method provides more accurate estimation of the MTD when the one-parameter model is correctly specified, but the method can overestimate the toxicity levels when the model is misspecified. O'Quigley [186] notes that applying directly CRM-type analysis to data generated by another design may not be satisfactory because of potential lack of fit of a one-parameter model. Instead, O'Quigley [186] suggests obtaining parameter estimates by solving a weighted estimation equation where the weight at a given dose is proportional to the number of patients the CRM would have assigned to that dose. Iasonos and Ostrovnaya [187] addressed the issue of analyzing data following the 3+3 design. They compared several estimation methods and found that constrained maximum likelihood estimation method for MTD estimation performs better than weighted CRM approach [186] and isotonic regression. Confidence intervals around toxicity probabilities at each dose are obtained using cumulative toxicity data.

For up-and-down designs of Durham and Flournoy [5] and their modifications, data analysis issues were investigated in several papers [61, 66, 67]. In particular, Stylianou and Flournoy [66] investigated different estimators of the MTD, including the maximum likelihood estimator, the weighted least squares estimator, the empirical mean and the isotonic regression estimator with linear interpolation. They found that the isotonic regression estimator has best smallsample performance. Stylianou et al. [67] recommend using isotonic estimates of toxicity probabilities at different dose levels $\{\psi(d_k)\}_{k=1}^K$.

For clinical trials that use model-based approach in the design, the subsequent data analysis can be performed using final model-based estimates. The final recommended dose is taken as an estimate of the MTD. For designs such as the CRM [10], EWOC [11], or Bayesian optimal sequential design [15], theoretical results are available that ensure consistency and asymptotically normality of parameter estimates. Therefore, standard asymptotic procedures for statistical inference should apply for these designs. A cautionary note should be made that the results are valid asymptotically and are subject to certain assumptions, including the form of the model and the prior. In practice these assumptions are hard to verify, models are likely to be misspecified, and sample sizes in phase I trials are small. Therefore, fitting a more elaborate model to the final data set may provide a better approach than just analyzing data using the "working" model which formed the basis for design adaptations. Since phase I trials are exploratory studies, they are not subject to the same level of statistical scrutiny as confirmatory phase III trials. The model for final data analysis does not necessarily have to be specified in the protocol. Different models can be tried to obtain the best fit to the observed data. Meta-analytic approaches may be useful under certain circumstances [188].

5. Miscellany

5.1. Finding MTD in a continuous dose space

Instead of considering pre-fixed dose levels, one can assume the dose is measured on a continuous scale. Sequential designs to determine the MTD in a continuous dose setting have been proposed in the literature; yet few of them have found use in clinical trials [19, 189]. Robbins and Monro [190] introduced a nonparametric stochastic approximation method for finding a root of the regression function, which can be used to generate a sequence of dose assignments to converge to the target quantile as follows:

$$X_{j+1} = x_j - \frac{1}{jb}(y_j - \Gamma),$$
(5.1)

where b > 0 is a pre-determined constant. Importantly, for the algorithm (5.1), $\Pr(X_n \to \gamma) = 1$ and the procedure is coherent [19]. For a logistic model $p(x) = \{1 + \exp(-(\alpha + \beta x))\}^{-1}$, the choice $b = \beta$ minimizes asymptotic variance of $\sqrt{n}(X_n - \gamma)$. Since β is unknown in practice, one can replace it with a strongly consistent sequence of estimators, which leads to an adaptive Robbins-Monro procedure. Such a procedure, however, may be numerically unstable for small and moderate samples [19]. Wu [191] proposed logit-MLE designs which, under certain regularity conditions, are asymptotically equivalent to the adaptive Robbins-Monro procedure. Wu's designs use sequentially computed MLEs from a two-parameter logistic model and can be applied only when data are not too sparse. For the same two-parameter logistic model, McLeisch and Tosh [192] proposed a design that sequentially selects points to achieve maximal incremental increase in some criterion such as D- or c-optimality. The c-optimal sequential design of McLeisch and Tosh [192] is very similar to Wu's logit-MLE design [191]. Liu et al. [193] conducted a comprehensive study of various sequential designs for phase I binary clinical trials with both discrete and continuous dose spaces. They addressed multiple issues including the choice of a "start-up" design to ensure existence of MLEs for the logistic model, the construction of the "follow-on" stage to achieve nonseparable data before applying the desired sequential design, and the issue of data analysis. They conclude that in a continuous dose space Wu's logit-MLE design [191] applied in combination with appropriate start-up and follow-on rules outperforms nonparametric methods in terms of estimation efficiency but may place more subjects to highly toxic doses. Cheung [22] notes that assuming a continuum of doses is not always feasible in practice. Modification of Robbins-Monro's procedure or Wu's logit MLE method to a discrete dose space objective is not straightforward. One possibility is to run a sequential design on "virtual observations" which are functions of observed toxicity data and doses on both discrete and continuous scale [194].

5.2. Finding maximum tolerated combinations in drug combination trials

Many modern phase I cancer trials are designed to evaluate the effect of two or more drugs used in a combination [195]. Typically, each compound in a combination has been studied previously and has an established dose range and the MTD. For each cytotoxic drug in the combination, a monotone dose-toxicity probability relationship is assumed to hold marginally. However, the joint probability of toxicity as a function of combination drugs may exhibit a complex pattern due to possibly unknown interactions between the drugs. As noted by Gasparini et al. [196], there are three possible types of interaction for multiagent therapies: antagonism (one drug reduces or neutralizes the toxic potential of the other), no interaction, and synergy (co-administration of the drugs results in greater toxicity compared to administration of each drug alone). The latter one (synergy) is the most plausible type of interaction for cytotoxic agents.

Consider a trial with combination of two drugs. Let $s_1 < \cdots < s_I$ denote the dose levels for drug one and $t_1 < \cdots < t_J$ denote the dose levels for drug two, $I \geq J$. The set of all possible drug combinations is a two-dimensional lattice $\{(s_i, t_j), i = 1, \ldots, I; j = 1, \ldots, J\}$. Let $\Gamma \in (0, 1)$ denote the target toxicity level for the drug combination. The objective is to find maximum tolerated combinations (MTCs), i.e. one or more pairs (s_i, t_j) with an estimated toxicity level closest to Γ . Ivanova and Wang [197] quantified this as an objective to find combinations $w_j^* = (s_j^*, t_j)$, where $s_j^* = \arg\min_{1 \leq i \leq I} |\Pr(Y = 1|s_i, t_j) - \Gamma|$ is the "optimal" dose of drug one corresponding to a selected dose t_j of drug two, for $j = 1, \ldots, J$.

In general, how should one perform a search on a two-dimensional lattice of dose combinations to find MTCs? Both algorithm-based and model-based approaches have been proposed for this purpose. The traditional approach is to pre-specify an escalation path on the lattice and apply the 3+3 algorithm along this path. However, such an approach is essentially using only one path, and it can miss more promising dose combinations located outside of the path. Fan et al. [198] proposed two-dimensional search strategies based on two-stage (A+B) and three-stage (A+B+C) designs. Braun and Alonzo [199] considered A+B+C designs with "fast escalation" that allow simultaneous increases in the doses of both agents. After the first DLT is observed, further searches are split into two directions (corresponding to one dose de-escalation for each agent); therefore, two different MTCs may be potentially identified. Lee and Fan [200] proposed an A+B+C algorithm that takes into account the nature of observed DLTs (whether they were likely due to agent 1, agent 2, or their interaction) when making a decision to de-escalate a dose. Assuming the toxicity probability is increasing in dose of each agent, Ivanova and Wang [197] proposed a two-dimensional Narayana design with a two-dimensional isotonic regression procedure for estimating MTC in the end of the trial.

For clinical settings when all drug combinations can be ordered a priori in terms of toxicity probabilities, Kramar et al. [142] proposed applying techniques for a single-agent problem to a combination-agent problem. In situations when

only a partial ordering is available, one can use a nonparametric procedure of Conaway et al. [86] or a CRM-type design of Wages et al. [143, 201, 202]; see also [203]. Yuan and Yin [204] proposed another elegant sequential design which converts a two-dimensional search into a series of one-dimensional searches using the CRM which allows to explore many promising combinations in one trial.

When ordering of drug combinations is unclear, model-based approaches may be preferred. A model-based approach for drug combination trials uses similar building blocks as for single-agent trials. For a drug combination $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, x_2)$ (where $x_1 \in \{s_1, \ldots, s_I\}$ is the dose level of drug one and $x_2 \in \{t_1, \ldots, t_J\}$ is the dose level of drug two), the probability of toxicity is modeled as

$$p(\boldsymbol{x}) = \Pr(Y = 1 | \boldsymbol{x}) = \psi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$$

for some function ψ $(0 \leq \psi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \leq 1$ for all \boldsymbol{x} and $\boldsymbol{\theta}$). The parameter vector $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ contains effects of the two drugs and their interaction. With a Bayesian approach, $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ follows some prior distribution $g(\boldsymbol{\theta})$ which can be elicited from physicians based on single-agent toxicity profiles. Let $\mathcal{F}_m = \{(\boldsymbol{x}_1, y_1), \ldots, (\boldsymbol{x}_m, y_m)\}$ denote the history from m patients in the trial, where $y_l = 1(0)$, if the lth patient experienced (did not experience) toxicity at drug combination $\boldsymbol{x}_l, l = 1, \ldots, m$. The likelihood function is $\mathcal{L}_m(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \prod_{l=1}^m \{\psi(\boldsymbol{x}_l, \boldsymbol{\theta})\}^{y_l} \{1 - \psi(\boldsymbol{x}_l, \boldsymbol{\theta})\}^{1-y_l}$. The dose combination for the (m+1)th patient is determined based on the posterior density $g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_m) \propto \mathcal{L}_m(\boldsymbol{\theta})g(\boldsymbol{\theta})$. A most common approach is to assign combination \boldsymbol{x}^* that minimizes $|E_{\boldsymbol{\theta}}(\psi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\theta})|\mathcal{F}_m) - \Gamma|$. Dose escalation may be applied to either individual patients or cohorts of patients.

Several methods based on this model-based framework have been recently proposed [205, 206, 207, 208, 209, 210, 211, 167]. Thall et al. [205] developed a two-stage Bayesian design assuming a six parameter dose-toxicity model. At the first (escalation) stage, dose combinations are selected along the diagonal path until m patients have been treated. Given $g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_m)$, the dose combinations for the (n-m) patients in the second stage are sought along the contour $\{x : E_{\theta}(\psi(x,\theta)|\mathcal{F}_m) = \Gamma\}$ subject to certain optimality criteria. Wang and Ivanova [206] considered a three parameter model and proposed a two-stage Bayesian CRM-type design which, after an initial escalation stage with an updated posterior $g(\boldsymbol{\theta}|\mathcal{F}_m)$, attempts to find dose combinations for subsequent patients by minimizing the distance to the target toxicity level. Yin and Yuan [207] proposed a Bayesian procedure for which a dose-toxicity probability surface is modeled using a three-parameter copula model. Yin and Yuan [208] used another modeling approach based on latent 2×2 contingency tables for toxicity probabilities for the two agents. Bailey et al. [209] used a Bayesian logistic regression model to estimate toxicity probabilities for drug combinations and suggested calculating posterior probabilities for the four toxicity categories (underdosing, targeted, excessive and unacceptable toxicity) as a decision making tool. Braun and Wang [210] developed a Bayesian adaptive design based on a hierarchical model for toxicity probabilities. Huo et al. [211] developed a method for finding MTCs in trials involving combinations of a continuous-dose standard-of-care agent and a discrete-dose investigational drug. Shi and Yin [167] proposed a two-dimensional EWOC design for drug combination trials.

5.3. More complex settings

Thall [212] provides a comprehensive discussion on early phase clinical trials with special considerations. Two important topics we shall focus on in this subsection are the use of various grades and types of toxicity and optimization of dose and schedule assignments.

Most oncology chemotherapy trials use ordinal scales to measure severity of toxicity, and different types of toxicities may have different clinical implications. Bekele and Thall [213] introduced a measure "total toxicity burden" (TTB) which quantifies in a single score the number and severity of toxicities a patient may experience in the study. The authors proposed a Bayesian adaptive design to find a dose with a pre-specified TTB. This method requires an assignment of weights to different types of toxicities and a selection of the target TTB at the trial onset. Some extensions of Bekele and Thall's [213] method were proposed by Yuan et al. [139] and Lee et al. [141] (CRM-type designs) and by Chen et al. [162] (EWOC-type design).

In clinical trial practice, in addition to determining an optimal dose level of the drug, it is important to account for the duration of treatment and frequency of dosing. Braun et al. [214] is perhaps the first paper that proposed a design that simultaneously optimizes schedule of treatment and dose peradministration. The design uses a Bayesian model for time-to-toxicity and performs a search over a two-dimensional lattice of successive administration times and the doses at those times. The authors demonstrate via simulations that the method "outperforms any method that searches for an optimal dose but does not allow schedule to vary, both in terms of the probability of identifying optimal (dose, schedule) combinations, and the numbers of patients assigned to those combinations in the trial." Several important extensions of the methodology of Braun et al. [214] were recently published in major statistical journals [215, 216, 217]. While these designs have not been widely known yet, we believe they hold much promise to improve clinical trial practice in the near future.

6. Concluding remarks

In this paper we presented an overview of adaptive designs for phase I cancer trials where the objective is to find the maximum tolerated dose or maximum tolerated combinations. Unlike confirmatory trials that are driven by hypothesis testing considerations, phase I studies are driven by estimation of the drug dose-toxicity profile and selection of the most appropriate dose(s) for subsequent studies. Since at the beginning of clinical drug development there is limited knowledge about the drug characteristics, adaptive designs are attractive research designs for phase I dose finding trials. The use of adaptive designs in this setting is explicitly encouraged by the Health Authorities [218, 219]. In particular, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) Guideline on Clinical Trials in Small Populations [219], page 8, states:

"... A variation of response-adaptive designs is those used for dose finding—they are typically referred to as 'continual re-assessment' methods. They are some-

O. Sverdlov et al.

TABLE 1Phase I cancer trial designs

Method	Primary References	Other References
Algorithm-Based	*	
3+3	[25, 26, 38, 39, 40, 41]	[3]
A+B	[41, 42]	[44, 45]
Accelerated Titration	[46]	[47]
TPI	[48, 49, 50, 51]	
Other designs	[55, 56, 57]	[52, 53]
Nonparametric		
Biased Coin Design (BCD)	[5, 6, 58, 60, 61, 66, 67]	[62, 65, 68]
Extensions of BCD:		
k-in-a-row	[69, 70, 71]	
Group Up-and-Down	[72, 73]	
Cumulative Cohort	[7, 74]	[75, 76]
Delayed responses	[77, 78]	
More complex trials	[79, 80, 81, 82]	
Isotonic	[84, 85, 86, 87]	[75]
Parametric Model-Based		
CRM	[10, 22, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93]	[94, 96, 97, 98]
Extensions of CRM:		
More cautious escalation	[32, 102, 103, 104, 105]	
Two-stage CRM	[90, 104, 106, 107, 108]	
Model calibration	[111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116]	[109, 110]
Curve-free Bayesian	[117, 118, 119]	[120]
Robustified CRM	[121, 122, 123]	
Stopping rules	[43, 124, 125, 126, 127]	
TITE-CRM	[128, 129, 130, 131, 132]	[133]
Drug combination	[143, 201, 203, 204]	
More complex trials	[135],	[145, 146, 148]
EWOC	[11, 156, 157, 158]	
Extensions of EWOC	[159, 160, 161, 162, 163, 164, 165]	[166, 167]
Bayesian Decision-Theoretic	[170, 171, 172, 173]	[175, 178]
Bayesian Optimal Designs	[15, 179, 180]	[181, 182]
Hybrid Designs	[16, 17]	
Special Considerations		
Continuous dose space	[19, 190, 191, 192, 193]	[189, 194]
Drug combination trials:		
Algorithm-based	[197, 198, 199, 200]	[86]
Model-based	[205, 206, 207, 208, 209, 210, 211]	
Multiple toxicities	[213, 139, 141, 162]	
Dose-schedule combination	[214, 215, 216, 217]	

times, but rarely, used. The properties of such methods far outstrip those of conventional 'up and down' dose finding designs. They tend to find the optimum (however defined) dose quicker, they treat more patients at the optimum dose, and they estimate the optimum dose more accurately. Such methods are encouraged.

Despite significant recent advances in adaptive design methodology for phase I cancer trials, the traditional 3+3 design remains the most popular choice in practice [220]. Our literature review provides a comprehensive, but not exhaustive list of novel adaptive dose-finding methods for phase I cancer trials. A succinct summary is presented in Table 1. Many of these designs have clearly defined objectives and established statistical properties, and are shown to outperform

Table	2	
-------	---	--

Web-links for statistical software for Phase I cancer trial designs (accessed on 3-Feb-2014)

Web-link	Implemented Methodology
http://linus.nci.nih.gov/~brb/Methodologic.htm	[46]
https://biostatistics.mdanderson.org/SoftwareDownload/	[48, 113, 205, 214]
http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/CRM/	[10]
http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/dfcrm/index.html	[10, 128]
http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/bcrm/index.html	[10, 11, 101]
http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/pocrm/index.html	[201]
http://biostatistics.csmc.edu/ewoc/ewoc-s.php	[11]

conventional procedures such as the 3+3 design, both in terms of statistical efficiency and in terms of minimizing the number of patients treated at suboptimal dose levels. One should be mindful that model-based adaptive designs are operationally more complex and require continuous collaboration between clinical investigator and biostatistician. Simulations must be routinely used to evaluate the design performance under a variety of hypothetical experimental scenarios. Validated statistical software is crucial for successful implementation of adaptive dose finding methods. Table 2 gives some web-links to non-commercial software packages. While more upfront planning is needed before implementation of a phase I adaptive design, this may profoundly benefit the development program.

Our review covers adaptive designs for cancer trials of cytotoxic agents in which acceptable toxicity is used as a surrogate for a therapeutic response. Many novel anti-cancer therapies, such as cytostatic agents are typically tolerable and much less toxic than cytotoxic anti-cancer drugs, and efficacy is more relevant a consideration than toxicity in trials of cytostatic agents [221, 222]. Dose finding trial designs utilizing both toxicity and efficacy measurements are referred to as "seamless phase I/II designs". A review of these methods is beyond the scope of the current paper, but the interested reader is referred to [223].

References

- [1] NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. COMMON TOXICITY CRITERIA. Available at http://ctep.cancer.gov/protocolDevelopment/.
- [2] ROSENBERGER, W. F. and HAINES, L. (2002). Competing designs for phase I clinical trials: a review. *Statistics in Medicine* **21** 2757–2770.
- [3] THALL, P. F. and LEE, S. J. (2003). Practical model-based dose-finding in phase I clinical trials: methods based on toxicity. *International Journal* of Gynecological Cancer 13 251–261.
- [4] O'QUIGLEY, J. and ZOHAR, S. (2006). Experimental designs for phase I and phase I/II dose-finding studies. *British Journal of Cancer* 94 609–613.
- [5] DURHAM, S. D. and FLOURNOY, N. (1994). Random walks for quantile estimation. In: *Statistical Decision Theory and Related Topics V*, 467–476, Berger, J., and Gupta, S. (eds). Springer-Verlag, New York. MR1286322
- [6] DURHAM, S. D. and FLOURNOY, N. (1995). Up and down designs I: stationary treatment distributions. In: Adaptive Designs, 139–157,

Flournoy, N., and Rosenberger, W. F. (eds). Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Hayward, California. MR1477678

- [7] IVANOVA, A., FLOURNOY, N., and CHUNG, Y. (2007). Cumulative cohort design for dose-finding. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 137 2316–2327. MR2325437
- [8] ORON, A. P. and HOFF, P. D. (2013). Small-sample behavior of novel phase I cancer trial designs (with discussion). *Clinical Trials* 10 63–92.
- [9] FEDOROV, V. V., FLOURNOY, N., WU, Y., and ZHANG, R. (2011). Best intention designs in dose finding studies. Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Cambridge.
- [10] O'QUIGLEY, J., PEPE, M., and FISHER, L. (1990). Continual reassessment method: a practical design for phase I clinical studies in cancer. *Biometrics* 46 33–48. MR1059105
- [11] BABB, J., ROGATKO, A., and ZACKS, S. (1998). Cancer phase I clinical trials: efficient dose escalation with overdose control. *Statistics in Medicine* 17 1103–1120.
- [12] AZRIEL, D., MANDEL, M., and RINOTT, Y. (2011). The treatment versus experimentation dilemma in dose finding studies. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 141 2759–2768. MR2787743
- [13] FEDOROV, V. V. (1972). Theory of Optimal Experiments. Academic Press, New York. MR0403103
- [14] FEDOROV, V. V. and LEONOV, S. L. (2014). Optimal Design for Nonlinear Response Models. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA. MR3113978
- [15] HAINES, L., PEREVOZSKAYA, I., and ROSENBERGER, W. F. (2003). Bayesian optimal designs for phase I clinical trials. *Biometrics* 59 591– 600. MR2004264
- [16] BARTROFF, J. and LAI, T. L. (2010). Approximate dynamic programming and its application to the design of phase I cancer trials. *Statistical Science* 25(2) 245–257. MR2789993
- [17] BARTROFF, J. and LAI, T. L. (2011). Incorporating individual and collective ethics into phase I cancer trial designs. *Biometrics* 67 596–603. MR2829028
- [18] DRAGALIN, V. and FEDOROV, V. (2006). Adaptive designs for dosefinding based on efficacy-toxicity response. *Journal of Statistical Planning* and Inference **136** 1800–1823. MR2255597
- [19] CHEUNG, Y. K. (2010). Stochastic approximation and modern modelbased designs for dose-finding clinical trials. *Statistical Science* 25(2) 191– 201. MR2789989
- [20] CHEUNG, Y. K. (2005). Coherence principles in dose-finding studies. Biometrika 92 863–873. MR2234191
- [21] CHEVRET, S. (Editor) (2006). Statistical Methods for Dose-Finding Experiments. Wiley, Chichester, West Sussex, England. MR2274231
- [22] CHEUNG, Y. K. (2011). Dose Finding by the Continual Reassessment Method. Chapman & Hall/CRC Biostatistics Series.
- [23] CARTER, S. K. (1973). Study design principles for the clinical evaluation of new drugs as developed by the chemotherapy programme of the Na-

tional Cancer Institute. In: *The design of clinical trials in cancer therapy*, 242–289, Staquet, M. J. (Ed.), Editions Scientifique Europe, Brussels.

- [24] STORER, B. and DEMETS, D. (1987). Current Phase I/II designs: are they adequate? Journal of Clinical Research and Drug Development 1 121– 130.
- [25] HATHER, G. J and MACKEY, H. (2009). Some notable properties of the standard oncology phase I design. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 19(3) 543–555. MR2668726
- [26] STORER, B. E. (1989). Design and analysis of phase I clinical trials. *Bio*metrics 45(3) 925–937. MR1029610
- [27] STORER, B. E. (1993). Small-sample confidence sets for the MTD in a phase I clinical trial. *Biometrics* 49(4) 1117–1125.
- [28] GORDON, N. H. and WILLSON, J. K. V. (1992). Using toxicity grades in the design and analysis of cancer phase I clinical trials. *Statistics in Medicine* 11 2063–2075.
- [29] HÜSING, J., SAUERWEIN, W., HIDEGHÉTY, K., and JÖCKEL, K. H. (2001). A scheme for a dose-escalation study when the event is lagged. *Statistics in Medicine* **20** 3323–3334.
- [30] SCHROEDER, G., SLOAN, J. A., CHA, S., ATHERTON, P., ALLMER, C., and ERLICHMAN, C. (2002). Phase 1 oncology clinical trials for related subpopulations. *Drug Information Journal* 36 581–593.
- [31] SKOLNIK, J. M., BARRETT, J. S., JAYARAMAN, B., PATEL, D., and ADAMSON, P. C. (2008). Shortening the timeline of pediatric phase I trials: the rolling six design. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 26 190–195.
- [32] KORN, E. L., MIDTHURE, D., CHEN, T. T., RUBINSTEIN, L. V., CHRISTIEAN, M. C., and SIMON, R. (1994). A comparison of two phase I trial designs. *Statistics in Medicine* 13(18) 1799–1806.
- [33] AHN, C. (1998). An evaluation of phase I cancer clinical trial designs. Statistics in Medicine 17 1537–1549.
- [34] O'QUIGLEY, J. (1999). Another look at two phase I trial designs. Statistics in Medicine 18 2683–2690.
- [35] IASONOS, A., WILTON, A. S., RIEDEL, E. R., SESHAN, V. E., and SPRIGGS, D. R. (2008). A comprehensive comparison of the continual reassessment method to the standard 3 + 3 dose escalation scheme in phase I dose-finding studies. *Clinical Trials* 5 465–477.
- [36] GERKE, O. and SIEDENTOP, H. (2008). Optimal phase I dose-escalation trial designs in oncology—A simulation study. *Statistics in Medicine* 27 5329–5344. MR2542354
- [37] ONAR-THOMAS, A. and XIONG, Z. (2010). A simulation-based comparison of the traditional method, Rolling-6 design and a frequentist version of the continual reassessment method with special attention to trial duration in pediatric Phase I oncology trials. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* **31** 259– 270.
- [38] REINER, E., PAOLETTI, X., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (1999). Operating characteristics of the standard phase I clinical trial design. *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis* **30** 303–315.

- [39] KANG, S. H. and AHN, C. (2001). The expected toxicity rate at the maximum tolerated dose in the standard phase I cancer clinical trial design. *Drug Information Journal* 35 1189–1199.
- [40] KANG, S. H. and AHN, C. (2002). An investigation of the traditional algorithm-based designs for phase 1 cancer clinical trials. *Drug Informa*tion Journal **36** 865–873.
- [41] LIN, Y. and SHIH, W. J. (2001). Statistical properties of the traditional algorithm-based designs for phase I cancer clinical trials. *Biostatistics* 2(2) 203–215.
- [42] IVANOVA, A. (2006). Escalation, group and A+B designs for dose-finding trials. Statistics in Medicine 25 3368–3678. MR2252418
- [43] HEYD, J. M. and CARLIN, B. (1999). Adaptive design improvements in the continual reassessment method for phase I studies. *Statistics in Medicine* 18 1307–1321.
- [44] LIU, J., HE, W., and QUAN, H. (2007). Statistical properties of a modified accelerated design for phase I cancer clinical trials. *Communications* in Statistics—Theory and Methods 36(15) 2741–2759. MR2413603
- [45] CHEN, Z., KRAILO, M. D., SUN, J., and AZEN, S. P. (2009). Range and trend of expected toxicity level (ETL) in standard A+B designs: a report from the children's oncology group. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* **30** 123– 128.
- [46] SIMON, R., FREIDLIN, B., RUBINSTEIN, L., ARBUCK, S. G., COL-LINS, J., and CHRISTIAN, M. C. (1997). Accelerated titration designs for phase I clinical trials in oncology. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 89 1138–1147.
- [47] PLUMMER, R., GHIELMINI, M., CALVERT, P., VOI, M., RENARD, J., GALLANT, G., GUPTA, E., CALVERT, H., and SESSA, C. (2002). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of the new taxane analog BMS-184476 given weekly in patients with advanced malignancies. *Clinical Cancer Research* 8(9) 2788–2797.
- [48] JI, Y., LI, Y., and BEKELE, B. N. (2007). Dose-finding in phase I clinical trials based on toxicity probability intervals. *Clinical Trials* 4 235– 244.
- [49] JI, Y., LI, Y., and YIN, G. (2007). Bayesian dose-finding in phase I clinical trials based on a new statistical framework. *Statistica Sinica* 17 531–547. MR2408679
- [50] JI, Y., LIU, P., LI, Y., and BEKELE, B. N. (2010). A modified toxicity probability interval method for dose-finding trials. *Clinical Trials* 7 653– 663.
- [51] JI, Y. and WANG, S. J. (2013). Modified toxicity probability interval design: a safer and more reliable method than the 3+3 design for practical phase I trials. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **31(14)** 1785–1791.
- [52] COLLINS, J. M., GRIESHABER, C. K., and CHABNER, B. A. (1990). Pharmacologically guided phase I clinical trials based upon preclinical drug development. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 82(16) 1321– 1326.

- [53] GRAHAM, M. A. and WORKMAN, P. (1992). The impact of pharmacokinetically guided dose escalation strategies in phase I clinical trials: critical evaluations and recommendations for future studies. *Annals of Oncology* 3(5) 339–347.
- [54] LE TORNEAU, C., LEE, J. J., and SIU, L. L. (2009). Dose escalation methods in phase I cancer clinical trials. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **101(10)** 708–720.
- [55] CHEUNG, Y. K. (2007). Sequential implementation of stepwise procedures for identifying the maximum tolerated dose. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* **102(480)** 1448–1461. MR2446206
- [56] JIANG, H., LIU, Y., and SU, Z. (2008). An optimization algorithm for designing phase I cancer clinical trials. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 29 102–108.
- [57] BLANCHARD, M. S. and LONGMATE, J. A. (2011). Toxicity equivalence range design (TEQR): a practical phase I design. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 32 114–121.
- [58] DURHAM, S. D., FLOURNOY, N., and MONTAZER-HAGHIGHI, A. A. (1995). Up and down designs II: exact treatment moments. In: *Adaptive Designs*, 158–178, Flournoy, N., and Rosenberger, W. F. (eds). Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Hayward, California. MR1477679
- [59] DIXON, W. J. and MOOD, A. M. (1948). A method for obtaining and analyzing sensitivity data. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 43 109–126.
- [60] FLOURNOY, N., DURHAM, S. D., and ROSENBERGER, W. F. (1995). Toxicity in sequential dose-response experiments. *Sequential Analysis* 14 217–228. MR1365660
- [61] DURHAM, S. D., FLOURNOY, N., and ROSENBERGER, W. F. (1997). A random walk rule for phase I clinical trials. *Biometrics* 53 745–760.
- [62] BORTOT, P. and GIOVAGNOLI, A. (2005). Up-and-down experiments of first and second order. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 134 236–253. MR2146577
- [63] ROSENBERGER, W. F., FLOURNOY, N., and DURHAM, S. D. (1997). Asymptotic normality of maximum likelihood estimators from multiparameter response-driven designs. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* **60** 69–76. MR1453033
- [64] VÅGERÖ, M. and SUNDBERG, R. (1999). The distribution of the maximum likelihood estimator in up-and-down experiments for quantal dose-response data. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 9(3) 499– 519.
- [65] GIOVAGNOLI, A. and PINTACUDA, N. (1998). Properties of frequency distributions induced by general 'up-and-down' methods for estimating quantiles. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 74 51–63. MR1665120
- [66] STYLIANOU, M. and FLOURNOY, N. (2002). Dose finding using the biased coin up-and-down design and isotonic regression. *Biometrics* 58 171–177. MR1891376

- [67] STYLIANOU, M., PROSCHAN, M., and FLOURNOY, N. (2003). Estimating the probability of toxicity at the target dose following an up-and-down design. *Statistics in Medicine* 22 535–543.
- [68] STYLIANOU, M., Derivation of exact distributions following an up-anddown design. Communications in Statistics—Theory and Methods 38(16– 17) 3190–3197. MR2568213
- [69] IVANOVA, A., MONTAZER-HAGHIGHI, A., MOHANTY, S. G., and DURHAM, S. D. (2003). Improved up-and-down designs for phase I trials. *Statistics in Medicine* **22** 69–82.
- [70] GEZMU, M. (1996). The Geometric Up-and-Down Design for Allocating Dosage Levels. Doctoral Dissertation, American University. MR2695534
- [71] ORON, A. P. and HOFF, P. D. (2009). The k-in-a-row up-and-down design, revisited. Statistics in Medicine 28 1805–1820. MR2751599
- [72] GEZMU, M. and FLOURNOY, N. (2006). Group up-and-down designs for dose-finding. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* **136** 1749–1764. MR2255594
- [73] BALDI ANTOGNINI, A., BORTOT, P., and GIOVAGNOLI, A. (2008). Randomized group up and down experiments. Annals of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics 60 45–59. MR2400060
- [74] ORON, A. P., AZRIEL, D., and HOFF, P. D. (2011). Dose-finding designs: the role of convergence properties. *The International Journal of Biostatistics* 7(1), Atricle 39. MR2873999
- [75] IVANOVA, A. and FLOURNOY, N. (2009). Comparison of isotonic designs for dose finding. *Statistics in Biopharmaceutical Research* 1(1) 101– 107.
- [76] LIU, A., CAI, C., and NING, J. (2013). Up-and-down designs for phase I clinical trials. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 36(1) 218–227.
- [77] STYLIANOU, M. and FOLLMAN, D. A. (2004). The accelerated biased coin up-and-down design in phase I trials. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 14(1) 249–260. MR2193906
- [78] JIA, N. and BRAUN, T. M. (2011). The adaptive accelerated biased coin design for phase I clinical trials. *Journal of Applied Statistics* 38(12) 2911–2924. MR2859843
- [79] PAUL, R. (2001). Random Walk Rules for Clinical Trials under non-Standard Conditions. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Maryland Baltimore County. MR2702563
- [80] PAUL, R. K., ROSENBERGER, W. F., and FLOURNOY, N. (2004). Quantile estimation following nonparametric phase I clinical trials with ordinal response. *Statistics in Medicine* 23 2483–2495.
- [81] LI, Z., DURHAM, S. D., and FLOURNOY, N. (1995). An adaptive design for maximization of a contingent binary response. In: *Adaptive Designs*, 179–196, Flournoy, N., and Rosenberger, W. F. (eds). Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Hayward, California. MR1477680
- [82] IVANOVA, A. (2003). A new dose-finding design for bivariate outcomes. Biometrics 59 1001–1007. MR2025124

- [83] PACE, N. and STYLIANOU, M. (2007). Advances in and limitations of up-and-down methodology: a précis of clinical use, study design, and dose estimation in anesthesia research. *Anesthesiology* **107** 144–152.
- [84] LEUNG, D. H. Y. and WANG, Y. G. (2001). Isotonic designs for phase I trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 22(2) 126–138.
- [85] YUAN, G. and CHAPPELL, R. (2004). Isotonic designs for phase I cancer clinical trials with multiple risk groups. *Clinical Trials* 1 499–508.
- [86] CONAWAY, M. R., DUNBAR, S., and PEDDADA, S. D. (2004). Designs for single- or multiple-agent phase I trials. *Biometrics* 60(3) 661–669. MR2089441
- [87] IVANOVA, A. and WANG, K. (2006). Bivariate isotonic design for dose-finding with ordered groups. *Statistics in Medicine* 25 2018–2026. MR2239229
- [88] GARRETT-MAYER, E. (2006). The continual reassessment method for dose-finding studies: a tutorial. *Clinical Trials* **3** 57–71.
- [89] O'QUIGLEY, J. and CONAWAY, M. (2010). Continual reassessment and related dose-finding designs. *Statistical Science* 25(2) 202–216. MR2789990
- [90] O'QUIGLEY, J. and SHEN, L. Z. (1996). Continual reassessment method: a likelihood approach. *Biometrics* **52** 163–174.
- [91] O'QUIGLEY, J. (1992). Estimating the probability of toxicity at the recommended dose following a phase I clinical trial in cancer. *Biometrics* 48 853–862.
- [92] SHEN, L. Z. and O'QUIGLEY, J. (1996). Consistency of continual reassessment method under model misspecification. *Biometrika* 83(2) 395–405. MR1439791
- [93] O'QUIGLEY, J. (2006). Theoretical study of the continual reassessment method. Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference 136 1765–1780. MR2255595
- [94] AZRIEL, D. (2012). A note on the robustness of the continual reassessment method. Statistics and Probability Letters 82 902–906. MR2910036
- [95] CHEUNG, Y. K. (2013). Sample size formulae for the Bayesian continual reassessment method. *Clinical Trials* 10(6) 852–861.
- [96] O'QUIGLEY, J., PAOLETTI, X., and MACCARIO, J. (2002). Nonparametric optimal design in dose finding studies. *Biostatistics* 3(1) 51– 56.
- [97] PAOLETTI, X., O'QUIGLEY, J., and MACCARIO, J. (2004). Design efficiency in dose finding studies. *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis* 45 197–214. MR2045468
- [98] WAGES, N. A., CONAWAY, M. R., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2013). Performance of two-stage continual reassessment method relative to an optimal benchmark. *Clinical Trials* **10(6)** 862–875.
- [99] O'QUIGLEY, J. and CHEVRET, S. (1991). Methods for dose finding in cancer phase I clinical trials: a review and results of a Monte Carlo study. *Statistics in Medicine* **10** 1647–1664.
- [100] CHEVRET, S. (1993). The continual reassessment method in cancer phase I clinical trials: a simulation study. *Statistics in Medicine* 12 1093–1108.

- [101] NEUENSCHWANDER, B., BRANSON, M., and GSPONER, T. (2008). Critical aspects of the Bayesian approach to phase I cancer trials. *Statistics in Medicine* 27 2420–2439. MR2432497
- [102] FARIES, D. (1994). Practical modifications of the continual reassessment method for phase I cancer clinical trials. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 4 147–164.
- [103] GOODMAN, S. N., ZAHURAK, M. L., and PIANTADOSI, S. (1995). Some practical improvements in the continual reassessment method for phase I studies. *Statistics in Medicine* 14(11) 1149–1161.
- [104] MØLLER, S. (1995). An extension of the continual reassessment methods using a preliminary up-and-down design in a dose finding study in cancer patients, in order to investigate a greater range of doses. *Statistics in Medicine* 14(9–10) 911–922.
- [105] PIANTADOSI, S., FISHER, J. D., and GROSSMAN, S. (1998). Practical implementation of a modified continual reassessment method for dose finding trials. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology* **41** 429–436.
- [106] WANG, O. and FARIES, D. E. (2000). A two-stage dose selection strategy in phase I trials with wide dose ranges. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 10(3) 319–333.
- [107] POTTER, D. M. (2002). Adaptive dose finding for phase I clinical trials of drugs used for chemotherapy of cancer. *Statistics in Medicine* **21** 1805– 1823.
- [108] IASONOS, A. and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2012). Interplay of priors and skeletons in two-stage continual reassessment method. *Statistics in Medicine* **31** 4321–4336. MR3040084
- [109] MURPHY, J. R. and HALL, D. L. (1997). A logistic dose-ranging method for phase I clinical investigations trials. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 7(4) 635–647.
- [110] ISHIZUKA, N. and OHASHI, Y. (2001). The continual reassessment method and its applications: a Bayesian methodology for phase I cancer clinical trials. *Statistics in Medicine* **20** 2661–2681.
- [111] CHEUNG, Y. K. and CHAPPELL, R. (2002). A simple technique to evaluate model sensitivity in the continual reassessment method. *Biometrics* 58 671–674. MR1933538
- [112] LEE, S. M. and CHEUNG, Y. K. (2009). Model calibration in the continual reassessment method. *Clinical Trials* 6 227–238.
- [113] YIN, G. and YUAN, Y. (2009). Bayesian model averaging continual reassessment method in phase I clinical trials. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* **104** 954–968. MR2750228
- [114] LEE, S. M. and CHEUNG, Y. K. (2011). Calibration of prior variance in the Bayesian continual reassessment method. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2081–2089. MR2829158
- [115] DAIMON, T., ZOHAR, S., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2011). Posterior maximization and averaging for Bayesian working model choice in the continual reassessment method. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 1563–1573. MR2828889

- [116] ZHANG, J., BRAUN, T. M., and TAYLOR, J. M. G. (2013). Adaptive prior variance calibration in the Bayesian continual reassessment method. *Statistics in Medicine* **32** 2221–2234. MR3067379
- [117] GASPARINI, M. and EISELE, J. (2000). A curve-free method for phase I clinical trials. *Biometrics* 56 609–615. MR1795024
- [118] O'QUIGLEY, J. (2002). Curve-free and model based continual reassessment method designs. *Biometrics* 58 245–249. MR1891386
- [119] CHEUNG, Y. K. (2002). On the use of nonparametric curves in phase I trials with low toxicity tolerance. *Biometrics* 58 237–240. MR1891385
- [120] WHITEHEAD, J., THYGESEN, H., and WHITEHEAD, A. (2010). A Bayesian dose-finding procedure for phase I clinical trials based only on the assumption of monotonicity. *Statistics in Medicine* **29** 1808–1824. MR2756781
- [121] YUAN, Y. and YIN, G. (2011). Bayesian hybrid dose-finding design in phase I oncology clinical trials. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2098–2108. MR2829160
- [122] Su, Z. (2011). A class of designs for phase I cancer clinical trials combining Bayesian and likelihood approaches. *Journal of Applied Statistics* 38(7) 1493–1498. MR2818141
- [123] YUAN, Y. and YIN, G. (2011). Robust EM continual reassessment method in oncology dose finding. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 106 818–831. MR2894740
- [124] ZOHAR, S. and CHEVRET, S. (2001). The continual reassessment method: comparison of Bayesian stopping rules for dose-ranging studies. *Statistics* in Medicine **20** 2827–2843.
- [125] ZOHAR, S. and CHEVRET, S. (2003). Phase I (or phase II) dose-ranging clinical trials: proposal of a two-stage Bayesian design. *Journal of Bio*pharmaceutical Statistics 13(1) 87–101.
- [126] O'QUIGLEY, J. and REINER, E. (1998). A stopping rule for the continual reassessment method. *Biometrika* 85(3) 741–748. MR1665850
- [127] O'QUIGLEY, J. (2002). Continual reassessment designs with early termination. *Biostatistics* 3(1) 87–99.
- [128] CHEUNG, Y. K. and CHAPPELL, R. (2000). Sequential designs for phase I clinical trials with late-onset toxicities. *Biometrics* 56 1177–1182. MR1815616
- [129] BRAUN, T. M. (2006). Generalizing the TITE-CRM to adapt for early- and late-onset toxicities. *Statistics in Medicine* 25(12) 2071–2083. MR2239633
- [130] BEKELE, N., JI, Y., SHEN, Y., and THALL, P. F. (2008). Monitoring late-onset toxicities in phase I trials using predicted risks. *Biostatistics* 9(3) 442–457.
- [131] POLLEY, M. Y. C. (2011). Practical modifications to the time-to-event continual reassessment method for phase I cancer trials with fast patient accrual and late-onset toxicities. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2130–2143. MR2829163

- [132] WAGES, N. A., CONAWAY, M. R., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2013). Using the time-to-event continual reassessment method in the presence of partial orders. *Statistics in Medicine* **32** 131–141. MR3017889
- [133] MULER, J. H., MCGINN, C. J., NORMOLLE, D., LAWRENCE, T., BROWN, D., HEJNA, G., and ZALUPSKI, M. M. (2004). Phase I trial using a time-to-event continual reassessment strategy for dose escalation cisplatin combined with gemcitabine and radiation therapy in pancreatic cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology 22(2) 238–243.
- [134] NORMOLLE, D. and LAWRENCE, T. (2006). Designing dose-escalation trials with late-onset toxicities using the time-to-event continual reassessment method. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 24(27) 4426–4433.
- [135] O'QUIGLEY, J. and CONAWAY, M. (2011). Extended model-based designs for more complex dose-finding studies. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2062– 2069. MR2829156
- [136] O'QUIGLEY, J., SHEN, L. Z., and GAMST, A. (1999). Two-sample continual reassessment method. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 9(1) 17-44.
- [137] O'QUIGLEY, J. and PAOLETTI, X. (2003). Continual reassessment method for ordered groups. *Biometrics* 59 430–440. MR1987410
- [138] WANG, C., CHEN, T. T., and TYAN, I. (2000). Designs for phase I cancer clinical trials with differentiation of graded toxicity. *Communications in Statistics—Theory and Methods* 29(5–6) 975–987.
- [139] YUAN, Z., CHAPPELL, R., and BAILEY, H. (2007). The continual reassessment method for multiple toxicity grades: a Bayesian quasilikelihood approach. *Biometrics* 63 173–179. MR2345586
- [140] VAN METER, E. M., GARRETT-MAYER, E., and BANDYOPADHYAY, D. (2011). Proportional odds model for dose-finding clinical trial designs with ordinal toxicity grading. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2070–2080. MR2829157
- [141] LEE, S. M., CHENG, B., and CHEUNG, Y. K. (2011). Continual reassessment method with multiple toxicity constraints. *Biostatistics* 12(2) 386–398.
- [142] KRAMAR, A., LEBECQ, A., and CANDALH, E. (1999). Continual reassessment methods in phase I trials of the combination of two drugs in oncology. *Statistics in Medicine* 18 1849–1864.
- [143] WAGES, N. A., CONAWAY, M. R., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2011). Continual reassessment method for partial ordering. *Biometrics* 67 1555–1563. MR2872406
- [144] BRAUN, T. M., and JIA, N. (2013). A generalized continual reassessment method for two-agent phase I trials. *Statistics in Biopharmaceutical Research* 5(2) 105–115.
- [145] THALL, P. F., SUNG, H. G., and CHOUDHURY, A. (2001). Dose-finding based on feasibility and toxicity in T-cell infusion trials. *Biometrics* 57 914–921. MR1863455
- [146] O'QUIGLEY, J., HUGHES, M. D., and FENTON, T. (2001). Dose-finding designs for HIV studies. *Biometrics* 57 1018–1029. MR1973811

- [147] ZHONG, W., KOOPMEINERS, J. S., and CARLIN, B. P. (2012). A trivariate continual reassessment method for phase I/II trials of toxicity, efficacy, and surrogate efficacy. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 3885–3895. MR3041780
- [148] HUANG, B. and CHAPPELL, R. (2008). Three-dose-cohort designs in cancer phase I studies. *Statistics in Medicine* 27 2070–2093. MR2439887
- [149] ONAR, A., KOCAK, M., and BOYETT, J. M. (2009). Continual reassessment method vs. traditional empirically based design: modifications motivated by phase I trials in pediatric oncology by the pediatric brain tumor consortium. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 19(3) 437–455. MR2668718
- [150] MORITA, S., MASAKAZU, T., SAJI, S., IWATA, H., OHNO, S., ITO, Y., KOBAYASHI, T., HOZUMI, Y., and SAKAMOTO, J. (2007). Practical application of the continual reassessment method to a phase I dose-finding trial in advanced breast cancer. *Drug Information Journal* **41** 691–700.
- [151] MORITA, S. (2011). Application of the continual reassessment method to a phase I dose-finding trial in Japanese patients: East meets West. *Statistics* in Medicine **30** 2090–2097. MR2829159
- [152] JI, Y., FENG, L., LIU, P., SHPALL, E. J., KEBRIAEI, P., CHAM-PLIN, R., BERRY, D., and COOPER, L. J. N. (2012). Bayesian continual reassessment method for dose-finding trials infusing T cells with limited sample size. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 22(6) 1206–1219. MR3015445
- [153] ZOHAR, S., LATOUCHE, A., TACONNER, M., and CHEVRET, S. (2003). Software to compute and conduct sequential Bayesian phase I or II doseranging clinical trials with stopping rules. *Computer Methods and Pro*grams in Biomedicine **72** 117–125.
- [154] KRAMAR, A., HOUÉDÉ, N., and PAOLETTI, X. (2007). np1: a computer program for dose escalation strategies in phase I clinical trials. *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine* 88(1) 8–17.
- [155] SWEETING, M., MANDER, A., and SABIN, T. (2013). bcrm: Bayesian continual reassessment method designs for phase I dose-finding trials. *Journal* of Statistical Software 54(13).
- [156] ZACKS, S., ROGATKO, A., and BABB, J. S. (1998). Optimal Bayesianfeasible dose escalation for cancer phase I trials. *Statistics and Probability Letters* 38 215–220. MR1629891
- [157] TIGHIOUART, M. and ROGATKO, A. (2010). Dose finding with escalation with overdose control (EWOC) in cancer clinical trials. *Statistical Science* 25(2) 217–226. MR2789991
- [158] TIGHIOUART, M., ROGATKO, A., and BABB, J. S. (2005). Flexible Bayesian methods for cancer phase I clinical trials. Dose escalation with overdose control. *Statistics in Medicine* 24 2183–2196. MR2146926
- [159] BABB, J. and ROGATKO, A. (2001). Patient specific dosing in a cancer phase I clinical trial. *Statistics in Medicine* **20** 2079–2090.
- [160] ROGATKO, A., GHOSH, P., VIDAKOVIC, B., and TIGHIOUART, M. (2008). Patient-specific dose adjustment in the cancer clinical trial setting. *Pharmaceutical Medicine* 6 345–350.

- [161] TIGHIOUART, M., COOK-WIENS, G., and ROGATKO, A. (2012). Incorporating a patient dichotomous characteristic in cancer phase I clinical trials using escalation with overdose control. *Journal of Probability and Statistics*, Article ID 567819; DOI:10.1155/2012/567819.
- [162] CHEN, Z., TIGHIOUART, M., and KOWALSKI, J. (2012). Dose escalation with overdose control using a quasi-continuous toxicity score in cancer phase I clinical trials. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* **33** 949–958.
- [163] TIGHIOUART, M., COOK-WIENS, G., and ROGATKO, A. (2012). Escalation with overdose control using ordinal toxicity grades for cancer phase I clinical trials. *Journal of Probability and Statistics*, Article ID 317634; DOI:10.1155/2012/317634. MR2994658
- [164] MAUGUEN, A., LEDELEY, M. C., and ZOHAR, S. (2011). Dose-finding approach for dose escalation with overdose control considering incomplete observations. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 1584–1594. MR2828891
- [165] TIGHIOUART, M. and ROGATKO, A. (2012). Number of patients per cohort and sample size considerations using dose escalation with overdose control. *Journal of Probability and Statistics*, Article ID 692725; DOI:10.1155/2012/692725.
- [166] CHU, P. L., LIN, Y., and SHIH, W. J. (2009). Unifying CRM and EWOC designs for phase I cancer clinical trials. *Journal of Statistical Planning* and Inference **139** 1146–1163. MR2479856
- [167] SHI, Y. and YIN, G., Escalation with overdose control for phase I drugcombination trials. *Statistics in Medicine*, doi: 10.1002/sim.5832 [Epub ahead of print].
- [168] XU, Z., TIGHIOUART, M., and ROGATKO, A. (2007). EWOC 2.0: interactive software for dose escalation in cancer phase I clinical trials. *Drug Information Journal* 41 221–228.
- [169] CHENG, J. D., BABB, J. S., LANGER, C., AAMDAL, S., ROBERT, F., ENGELHARDT, L. R., FERNBERG, O., SCHILLER, J., FORSBERG, G., ALPAUGH, R. K., WEINER, L. M., and ROGATKO, A. (2004). Individualized patient dosing in phase I clinical trials: the role of EWOC in PNU-214936. Journal of Clinical Oncology 22 602–609.
- [170] WHITEHEAD, J. and BRUNIER, H. (1995). Bayesian decision procedures for dose determining experiments. *Statistics in Medicine* 14 885–893 (discussion: P897–899).
- [171] WHITEHEAD, J. and WILLIAMSON, D. (1998). Bayesian decision procedures based on logistic regression models for dose-finding studies. *Journal* of Biopharmaceutical Statistics 8(3) 445–467.
- [172] MCGREE, J. M., DROVANDI, C. C., THOMPSON, M. H., ECCLE-STON, J. A., DUFFULL, S. B., MENGERSEN, K., PETTITT, A. N., and GOGGIN, T. (2012). Adaptive Bayesian compound designs for dose finding studies. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 142 1480–1492. MR2891500
- [173] WHITEHEAD, J., Bayesian decision procedures with application to dosefinding studies. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Medicine 11 201– 208.

- [174] SHU, J. and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2008). Commentary—Dose-escalation designs in oncology: ADEPT and the CRM. Statistics in Medicine 27 5345– 5353. MR2542355
- [175] ZHOU, Y. and WHITEHEAD, J. (2003). Practical implementation of Bayesian dose-escalation procedures. Drug Information Journal 37 45– 59.
- [176] ZHOU, Y. and WHITEHEAD, J. (2002). Bayesian ADEPT: Operating Manual. The University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom.
- [177] BEDDING, A. (2003). Bayesian ADEPT: assisted decision making in early phase trials. *Pharmaceutical Statistics* 2 219–221.
- [178] ZHOU, Y. (2005). Choosing the number of doses and the cohort size for phase 1 dose-escalation studies. Drug Information Journal 39 125– 137.
- [179] ROY, A., GHOSAL, S., and ROSENBERGER, W. F. (2009). Convergence properties of sequential Bayesian D-optimal designs. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* **139** 425–440. MR2474016
- [180] ROSENBERGER, W. F., CANFIELD, G. C., PEREVOZSKAYA, I., HAINES, L. M., and HAUSNER, P. (2005). Development of interactive software for Bayesian optimal phase I clinical trial design. *Drug Information Journal* **39** 89–98.
- [181] WARFIELD, J. and ROY, A. (2013). A semiparametric sequential algorithm for estimation of dose response curve. *Sequential Analysis* 32(2) 196-213. MR3046884
- [182] ROTH, K. (2012). Sequential designs for dose escalation studies in oncology. Communications in Statistics—Simulation and Computation 41(7) 1131–1141. MR2912940
- [183] HAN, J., LAI, T. L., and SPIVAKOVSKY, V. (2006). Approximate policy optimization and adaptive control in regression models. *Computational Econometrics* 27 433–452.
- [184] TREMMEL, L. T. (2009). A new look at evaluating MTD designs in cancer research. Journal of Statistical Theory and Practice 3(2) 371–379. MR2751605
- [185] HE, W., LIU, J., BINKOWITZ, B., and QUAN, H. (2006). A model-based approach in the estimation of the maximum tolerated dose in phase I cancer clinical trials. *Statistics in Medicine* 25 2027–2042. MR2239230
- [186] O'QUIGLEY, J. (2005). Retrospective analysis of sequential dose-finding designs. *Biometrics* 61 749–756. MR2196163
- [187] IASONOS, A. and OSTROVNAYA, I. (2011). Estimating the dose-toxicity curve in completed phase I studies. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2117–2129. MR2829162
- [188] ZOHAR, S., KATSAHIAN, S., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2011). An approach to meta-analysis of dose-finding studies. *Statistics in Medicine* **30** 2109–2116. MR2829161
- [189] ANBAR, D. (1984). Stochastic approximation methods and their use in bioassay and phase I clinical trials. *Communications in Statistics—Theory* and Methods 13(19) 2451–2467.

- [190] ROBBINS, H. and MONRO, S. (1951). A stochastic approximation method. Annals of Mathematical Statistics 22 400–407. MR0042668
- [191] WU, C. F. J. (1985). Efficient sequential designs with binary data. Journal of the American Statistical Association 85 156–162. MR0819603
- [192] MCLEISH, D. L. and TOSH, D. H. (1990). Sequential design in bioassay. *Biometrics* 46 103–116. MR1059107
- [193] LIU, G., ROSENBERGER, W. F., and HAINES, L. (2006). Sequential designs for logistic phase I clinical trials. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 16(5) 605–621. MR2252310
- [194] CHEUNG, Y. K. and ELKIND, M. S. V. (2010). Stochastic approximation with virtual observations for dose-finding on discrete levels. *Biometrika* 97(1) 109–121. MR2594420
- [195] HAMBERG, P., RATAIN, M. J., LESAFFRE, E., and VERWEIJ, J. (2010). Dose escalation models for combination phase I trials in oncology. *European Journal of Cancer* 46 2870–2878.
- [196] GASPARINI, M., BAILEY, S., and NEUENSCHWANDER, B. (2010). Correspondence—Bayesian dose finding in oncology for drug combinations by copula regression (with authors' response). Applied Statistics 59(3) 543–546. MR2757234
- [197] IVANOVA, A. and WANG, K. (2004). A nonparametric approach to the design and analysis of two-dimensional dose-finding trials. *Statistics in Medicine* 23 1861–1870.
- [198] FAN, S. K., VENOOK, A. P., and LU, Y. (2009). Design issues in dosefinding phase I trials for combination of two agents. *Journal of Biophar*maceutical Statistics 19(3) 509–523. MR2668723
- [199] BRAUN, T. M. and ALONZO, T. A. (2011). Beyond the 3+3 method: expanded algorithms for dose-escalation in phase I oncology trials of two agents. *Clinical Trials* 8 247–259.
- [200] LEE, B. L. and FAN, S. K. (2012). A two-dimensional search algorithm for dose-finding trials of two agents. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* 22(4) 802–818. MR2931072
- [201] WAGES, N. A., CONAWAY, M. R., and O'QUIGLEY, J. (2011). Dosefinding design for multi-drug combinations. *Clinical Trials* 8(4) 380– 389.
- [202] WAGES, N. A. and VARHEGYI, N. (2013). pocrm: an R-package for phase I trials of combinations of agents. *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine* 112(1) 211–218.
- [203] WAGES, N. A. and CONAWAY, M. R. (2013). Specifications of a continual reassessment method design for phase I trials of combined drugs. *Pharmaceutical Statistics* 12 217–224.
- [204] YUAN, Y. and YIN, G. (2008). Sequential continual reassessment method for two-dimensional dose finding. *Statistics in Medicine* 27 5664–5678. MR2573775
- [205] THALL, P. F., MILLIKAN, R. E., MUELLER, P., and LEE, S. J. (2003). Dose-finding with two agents in phase I oncology trials. *Biometrics* 59 487–496. MR2004253

- [206] WANG, K. and IVANOVA, A. (2005). Two-dimensional dose finding in discrete dose space. *Biometrics* 61 217–222. MR2135863
- [207] YIN, G. and YUAN, Y. (2009). Bayesian dose finding in oncology for drug combinations by copula regression. Applied Statistics 58(2) 211– 224. MR2649671
- [208] YIN, G. and YUAN, Y. (2009). A latent contingency table approach to dose finding for combination of two agents. *Biometrics* 65 866–875. MR2649859
- [209] BAILEY, S., NEUENSCHWANDER, B., LAIRD, G., and BRANSON, M. (2009). A Bayesian case study in oncology phase I combination dosefinding using logistic regression with covariates. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics* **19(3)** 469–484. MR2668720
- [210] BRAUN, T. M. and WANG, S., A hierarchical Bayesian design for phase I trials of novel combinations of cancer therapeutic agents. *Biometrics* 66 805–812. MR2758216
- [211] HUO, L., YUAN, Y., and YIN, G., Bayesian dose finding for combined drugs with discrete and continuous doses. *Bayesian Analysis* 7(4) 1035– 1052. MR3000023
- [212] THALL, P. F. (2010). Bayesian models and decision algorithms for complex early phase clinical trials. *Statistical Science* 25(2) 227–244. MR2789992
- [213] BEKELE, B. N., and THALL, P. F., Dose-finding based on multiple toxicities in a soft tissue sarcoma trial. *Journal of the American Statistical* Association **99** 26–35. MR2061885
- [214] BRAUN, T. M., YUAN, Z., NGUYEN, H., and LIMA, M. (2007). Simultaneously optimizing dose and schedule of a new cytotoxic agent. *Clinical Trials* 4 113–124.
- [215] ZHANG, J. and BRAUN, T. M. (2013). A phase I Bayesian adaptive design to simultaneously optimize dose and schedule assignments both between and within patients. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 503 892–901. MR3174671
- [216] THALL, P. F., NGUYEN, H. Q., BRAUN, T. M., and QAZILBASH, M. H. (2013). Using joint utilities of the times to response and toxicity to adaptively optimize schedule-dose regimes. *Biometrics* 69(3) 673–682. MR3106595
- [217] WAGES, N. A., O'QUIGLEY, J., and CONAWAY, M. R. (2014). Phase I design for completely or partially ordered treatment schedules. *Statistics* in Medicine **33** 569–579. MR3153538
- [218] THE US FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION (FDA) (2010). Guidance for Industry. Adaptive Design Clinical Trials for Drugs and Biologics (draft document).
- [219] COMMITTEE FOR MEDICINAL PRODUCTS FOR HUMAN USE (CHMP) (2006). Guideline on clinical trials in small populations. CHMP/EWP/83561/2005.
- [220] ROGATKO, A., SCHOENECK, D., JONAS, W., TIGHIOUART, M., KHURI, F. R., and PORTER, A. (2007). Translation of innovative de-

signs into phase I trials. Journal of Clinical Oncology 25(31) 4982–4986.

- [221] HUNSBERGER, S., RUBINSTEIN, L. V., DANCEY, J., and KORN, E. L. (2005). Dose escalation trial designs based on a molecularly targeted endpoint. *Statistics in Medicine* 24 2171–2181. MR2146925
- [222] YIN, G., ZHENG, S., and XU, J. (2013). Two-stage dose finding for cytostatic agents in phase I oncology trials. *Statistics in Medicine* **32** 644–660. MR3042507
- [223] DRAGALIN, V., Seamless phase I/II designs. In: Handbook of Adaptive Designs in Pharmaceutical and Clinical Development, Chapter 12, Pong, A. and Chow, S.-C. (eds). CRC Press. MR2789104